MXenes and Other Two-Dimensional Materials for Membrane Gas Separation: Progress, Challenges and Potential of MXene-based Membranes

Ali Pournaghshband Isfahani, Ahmad Arabi Shamsabadi, and Masoud Soroush*

Department of Chemical and Biological Engineering, Drexel University, Philadelphia, PA 19104, USA

REVISED VERSION

August 18, 2022

Submitted for Publication in the I&EC Research Collection of Papers in Memory of Professor Babatunde A. Ogunnaike

Keywords: MXenes; 2D nanomaterials, membranes; gas separation

*Corresponding author. <u>soroushm@drexel.edu</u>

Abstract

Gas-separation membranes incorporating two-dimensional (2D) materials have received considerable attention in recent years, as these membranes have shown outstanding physical, structural, thermal properties, and high permeability-selectivity. The reduced thickness and diversity of the gas transport mechanisms through in-plane pores (intrinsic defects), in-plane slitlike pores, or plane-to-plane interlayer galleries provide the membranes with a significant sieving ability for energy-efficient gas separation. The discovery of 2D transition metal carbides/nitrides materials, MXenes, has provided new opportunities in the gas separation membrane area because of their hydrophilicity, rich chemistry, high flexibility, and mechanical strength. This review puts into perspective recent advances in 2D-material-based gas membranes, highlights modification approaches for tuning the in-plane and plane-to-plane nanoslits, explains governing mechanisms of transport through these membranes, and compares their advantages and disadvantages with those of other 2D materials. It also discusses current challenges and provides prospects in this area.

Contents

1. Introduction
2. Background on MXenes
3. MXenes Synthesis
4. Membrane Fabrication: Methods, Properties, and Limitations11
5. MXene Membranes
5.1 Recent Progress in MXene Lamellar Membranes for Gas Separation15
5.2 Control Gas Transport Properties of MXenes Membranes19
5.2.1. Membrane processing parameters: casting, concentration, time and
temperature
5.2.2. Synthesis, modification of MXenes: flake size, functional groups and
interlayer ions
5.3. Molecular Transport Mechanism of MXene-based Membranes25
5.4. Stability of MXene Membranes27
6. Role of MXenes in Enhancing the Performance of MMMs
7. 2D Materials for Membrane Separation Applications
7.1. 2D Zeolite Membranes
7.2. 2D MOF Membranes
7.3. Graphene Oxide Membranes
7.4. 2D COF Membranes35
7.5. Transition Metal Dichalcogenides Membranes
8. Conclusion and Outlook
References

1. Introduction

The development of energy-efficient separation membranes is of interest in many industries to address operational and environmental challenges. Polymers have been the dominant material for the fabrication of gas and liquid membranes due to their ease of processability. They have been used in the fabrication of thin-film composite membranes for industrial applications ¹. However, their industrial applications have faced many challenges including low separation performance, severe plasticization under condensable gases and moisture, and low durability in the presence of heat, solvents, and contamination. In the recent review paper ², only a few glassy polymers with acceptable separation properties and good thermal and chemical stability (e.g., polybenzimidazole) have been suggested. At the present time, there is a need for the improvement of the stability and the performance of many polymeric membranes. Otherwise, these membranes should be replaced with more robust inorganic two-dimensional (2D) materials, which have excellent thermal stability and ultrapermeable-selective channels.

Recently developed 2D nanomaterials such as graphene oxide (GO) ³, graphene ⁴, transition metal carbides/nitrides (MXenes) ⁵, 2D transition metal borides (MBenes) ⁶, transition metal dichalcogenides, metal-organic frameworks (MOFs) ⁷, and covalent-organic frameworks (COFs) ⁸, are attractive materials for membrane separation applications. The first report on single-layer graphene films in 2004 opened a new research direction in gas and liquid separation ⁹. High surface area, size-sieving ability, abundant modifiable functional groups, and excellent thermal and chemical stability make the inorganic 2D materials an ideal candidate for use in challenging gas and liquid separation processes. Efforts have been made to improve the gas-separation performance of 2D-material-based membranes by studying how nanopores and interlayer spacing of the 2D materials affect the performance ¹⁰. The ultrafast molecular transportation through the

laminar membranes takes place between the interlayer spacing and through the pores on the layers and adjacent flakes. GOs and reduced GO (rGO) are the most investigated nanosheet materials for separation applications. They have shown exceptional transport properties due to their large surface areas, and oxygen-based functional groups (hydroxyl, carboxyl, and epoxy). However, the affinity of oxygen-based groups with water molecules diminishes the dimensional stability of GO membranes in the humidified gas flows, deteriorating the separation properties ¹¹. Additionally, the adhesion of GO on the porous support is weak, hindering the fabrication of highly selective membranes. Recently, surface modification and crosslinking of 2D nanomaterials and incorporating 2D nanomaterials into polymers have been introduced as effective methods to enhance the separation properties and chemical-mechanical stability of the membranes ^{12, 13}. Crosslinking techniques such as self-crosslinking, ion crosslinking, and molecular crosslinking can mitigate the swelling of the membranes in the presence of humidity and maintain their selectivity and permeability ¹⁴.

The fast transportation through the 2D lamellar membranes depends strongly on the continuum flow regime within the ordered channels ¹⁵. Any disturbance in the packing density and disordering of the laminates can cause a severe loss in the molecular transportation through the membranes ^{15, 16}. Therefore, high rigidity is needed to generate highly ordered nanochannels, while most current 2D materials suffer from high flexibility and the formation of irregular nanoslits ¹⁵. Also, due to the unstable d-spacing of flexible inorganic layers under different feed pressures, their separation performance varies significantly.

MXenes have remarkable mechanical stiffness and are promising for the fabrication of membranes with rigid ordered stacking channels without curling or failure under gas or liquid high pressure ^{15, 17}. In addition to the uniform size distribution of nanochannels and excellent selectivity that MXenes membranes have shown in water purification, their stability and robustness in the presence of water have made them promising for industrial applications, compared to other 2D inorganic materials. Relatively constant rejection and water flux of MXene membranes after 28h testing indicated the high stability of the membranes ¹⁸⁻²⁰.

2. Background on MXenes

MXenes are a relatively young family of 2D materials with the general formula of $M_{n+1}X_nT_x$ (n = 1-4), where M represents a transitional metal (such as Ti, V, Mo, and Cr), X is carbon and/or nitrogen, and T stands for functional groups (e.g., O, F, OH, and Cl). Typically, the parent of a MXene is a MAX phase, $M_{n+1}AX_n$, where A is an element from group 13 or 14 of the periodic table. The selective etching of the A element from a MAX phase by using strong etchants such as hydrofluoric acid (HF) can produce layered MXenes with rich functional groups on the surface ²¹. The layered MXenes with distributed functional groups, excellent hydrophilicity, a negative surface charge, and special structures like GO are attractive for the fabrication of molecular separation membranes.

Figure 1a shows the number of publications on GO- and MXene-based membranes since 2015, indicating that research on MXene gas membranes (about 160 publications in total) is still in its infancy stage, and compared to research on GO-based membranes, the interest in this area is growing rapidly. The number of publications on MXenes-based membranes has increased rapidly in the last few years, and as of February 2022, the term "MXene" has appeared in more than 52 titles and abstracts of published articles on membranes in 2022, based on Scopus database. As the pie chart indicates, about 12% of the publications on MXene membranes are review articles, based



Figure 1. (a) Studies on MXene-based and graphene-based membranes as of February 2022. (b) a nanolaminated MXene membrane on a porous support. (c,d) Schematic representation of two types of mechanisms for mass transport through the in-plane slit-like pores (A), interlayer channels (B) and voids formed between the less ordered MXene nanosheets.

on Scopus database. As expected, there are many reviews on MXene synthesis, modification,

purification and characterization for different applications such as energy storage ^{22, 23}, catalysis

and sensors ^{22, 24}, and biomedical applications ²⁵ and separation ²⁶.

Due to the large variety of MAX phase structures and different etching processes and termination groups, a large number of MXenes has been synthesized and used in different applications. The research on MXenes membrane has been mostly limited to the separation of metal ions 27 , dyes 18 , and solvents $^{15, 28}$. The water flux of the Ti₃C₂T_x membrane with a thickness of 230 nm was 9 times higher (~2300 Lm⁻²h⁻¹bar⁻¹) than that of GO membranes with the same thickness 15 . The larger d-spacing and ordered nanochannels of MXene laminates were responsible for the extremely larger water flux. Although the first article on MXene-based membranes for gas separation was published in 2018 17 , the gas separation performance of MXene membranes and the governing mechanisms of gas permeation through the membranes have not been fully explored.

There are numerous unanswered research questions in the area of MXene-based membranes. While several existing reviews have put MXene-based membranes into perspective, only a few have focused soley on MXene-based gas separation membranes. Furthermore, these reviews have not been of adequate depth to adequately focus on fundamental key issues such as the transport mechanism, stability improvement, and transport performance improvement via tuning the stacking structure and flake alignments. Moreover, compared to GO gas separation membranes, MXene membranes are in their fancy stage. This review aims to put into perspective recent advances in MXene-based gas separation membranes and point to research opportunities and gaps in field, catalyzing the determination of the gas-separation mechanisms and the improvement of the transport properties of these membranes.

3. MXenes Synthesis

There are two approaches to synthesize MXenes, top-down and bottom-up ²⁹. A top-down approach includes selective etching and chemical transformations. Although the bottom-up methods (e.g., chemical vapor deposition) generate higher quality MXene sheets, the simplicity and scalability of top-down approaches have received significantly more attention ³⁰. As Table 1 indicates the majority of 2D nanomaterials have been prepared using top-down fabrication approaches ³¹.

Material	Synthesis method	Brief description of the process	Ref.
MXene	Top-down	Synthesized by the mixture of etching agents (typically a strong acid) exfoliated by the intercalation of cations between the layers	32
	Top-down	Mechanical delamination and exfoliation	33
Graphene	Bottom-up	Chemical vapor deposition (CVD) to control the properties of porous graphene by changing the process parameters (temperature, etchant, and substitutional doping)	34
GO	Top-down	Modified Hummer method and mechanical exfoliation	35
	Top-down	This strategy relies on different methods (e.g. ball milling, sonication, freeze-thaw-cycling, and microchemical sonication to exfoliate 2D MOF crystals into single or a few-layers MOF.	36-38
2D-MOFs	Bottom-up	By selecting the appropriate ligands or surfactants, different methods such as interfacial and surfactant-assisted synthesis, three-layers synthesis and modulated synthesis were utilized to grow 2D MOFs with the minimum defects to be used as the gas separation membranes.	39, 40, 41-43
COFs	Top-down	Chemical exfoliation or delamination by a mechanical process (e.g., ball milling, sonication)	44
	Bottom-up	Interfacial synthesis (air/liquid and liquid/liquid) and self-exfoliation strategies	45

Table 1. Typical 2D nanomaterials used for the fabrication of gas-separation membranes.

In a top-down approach, a MXene is synthesized from a MAX phase, M_{n+1}AX_n, where M is a transition metal, A is an element from group IIIA or IVA, and X is either carbon or nitrogen. The selective etching of the transition metal element (i.e. Al) by an appropriate etchant (mostly a strong acid) has been used. Concentrated HF, hydrochloric acid (HCl) and lithium fluoride (LiF), a mixture of HF and HCl, ammonium hydrogen difluoride (NH₄HF₂), and ammonium fluoride (NH_4F) have been used as an ethchant (Figure 2a) ⁴⁶. In the selective etching methods, the properties of the MXene product including the type and density of functional groups on the surface of the MXene are affected by factors such as the type of etchant, the etchant concentration, intercalating agent, temperature, and reaction time. Studies reported in the literature indicate that the use of different delamination/etching procedures leads to the production of MXenes with different qualities. Naguib et al. ⁴⁷ conducted a comprehensive study about the impact of reaction parameters for several MAX phases. The tendency of MXenes to oxidize and degrade upon exposure to oxygen and/or water has motivated the development of different synthesis methods and MXene storage protocols ^{48, 49}. The synthesis of a MXene in an organic solvent hinders the degradation of the MXene. Natu et al. introduced a method to fabricate and delaminate MXenes in organic solvents using NH₄HF₂ as the etching agent. The synthesized MXenes showed an accordion-like structure with a significantly larger d-spacing compared to MXenes prepared with HF ⁵⁰.

In a top-down approach, the delamination and exfoliation of nanolayers are vital for the fabrication of high-performance gas membranes. 2D materials have strong in-plane chemical bonds and electrostatic interactions, but weak out-of-plane van-der Waals bonds, which can be

mostly overcome by mechanical shearing or intercalation processes. Typical sonication/delamination methods for 2D materials are ball milling, sonication Ball-milling, sonication in an appropriate solvent, ion and polymers intercalation and melt compounding ⁵¹. Unlike most 2D materials, MXenes cannot be delaminated using mechanical delamination (by applying shear force) due to the strong M-A metallic bonds.



Figure 2. MXenes synthesis methods. (i) Selective etching: (a) acid etching, (b) anodic etching without using acid, and (c) molten-salt etching. (ii) Chemical transformation: (d) ammoniation transition metal carbides to achieve their transition metal nitrides at high temperatures, (e) carburization of transition metal sulfides to MXenes via thermal annealing under methane and hydrogen, and (f) de-oxygenation and carburization. Bottom-up construction: (g) chemical vapor deposition (CVD) and (h) salt-templated growth process under a flow of ammonia ⁵². Reprinted with permission from Jiang, X.; Kuklin, A. V.; Baev, A.; Ge, Y.; Ågren, H.; Zhang, H.; Prasad, P. N., Two-dimensional MXenes: From morphological to optical, electric, and magnetic properties and applications. Physics Reports 2020, 848, 1-58

In a bottom-up approach, a 2D ultrathin MXene is produced by chemical vapor deposition (CVD) or salt-templated growth, which results in the production of MXene flakes with larger lateral sizes and fewer defects. The bottom-up approaches have facilitated the tuning of surface terminations, morphology, and size distribution ⁵³. In the CVD method, Ti_3AlC_2 MAX was synthesized by deposition of C, Al, and Ti on insulated support using direct-current magnetron sputtering (Figure 2g). Salt-templated growth has also been used for the preparation of MXenes at high temperatures (700 – 750 °C), where nitrogen was supplied by an ammonia stream ⁵⁴. Diverse transition metal nitrides (Mn₃N₂, W₂N, and V₂N) have been produced by this approach (see Figure 2h). It should be noted that different MXene structures can be achieved due to lattice distortion caused by the salt templates (NaCl and KCl) ⁵⁵.

The delamination degree of MXenes affects the feature of MXenes. The presence of strong hydrogen bonds between MXene layers leads to irreversible restacking of those layers. Consequently, the efficiency of mechanical exfoliation techniques for providing single/few layers of MXenes is very low. To address this challenge, simultaneous ion intercalation and delamination have been employed to generate single-layer MXenes. The intercalation of cations such as Li⁺ or the use of a polar solvent [e.g., dimethyl sulfoxide DMSO)] has been used successfully to increase the interlayer spacing and avoid restacking. It is believed that electrostatic interactions contribute to the introduction of cations between the layers ⁵⁶. DMSO diffuses between the Ti₃C₂T_x galleries after stirring for a few hours, following up with sonication in water ⁵⁷. Most of the methods used to synthesize MXenes are time-consuming and involve the use of hazardous acids. Therefore, current studies have been on finding more environmentally friendly etchants and decreasing the synthesis time.

4. Membrane Fabrication: Methods, Properties, and Limitations

Lamellar membranes for gas separation are fabricated mostly using a top-down approach that can involve vacuum-assisted or pressure-assisted filtration, dip-coating, spraying, and vacuum spin coating.



Figure 3. Top image: comparison of the structure of the membrane prepared via filtration methods. Bottom image: different types of membrane fabrication techniques ⁵⁸.

Filtration. The capillary forces applied during the filtration process compete with the repulsion force between the adjacent sheets that can affect gas transport properties within the lamellar membranes. The filtration of a huge volume of a solution at low concentrations takes time, and the separation performance is very dependent on the packing density and orientation of the layers. Vacuum-assisted and pressure-assisted filtration methods are easy, scalable, controllable, and flexible. They provide a large degree of flexibility in the material selection, supports, and membrane thickness. Vacuum filtration involves the application of a vertical force from the bottom to deposit a suspension on top of a support, which has mostly been used method to fabricate aligned and high-packed 2D MXene membranes ^{31,46}. The vacuum driving force decreases with increased thickness, which causes more packing near the support and a looser structure for the top layers (shown in the cross-sectional SEM images in Figure 3). However, the level of randomness is lower than in the solvent evaporation method, creating more compact membranes (with lower thicknesses). On the other hand, pressure filtration produces a denser, more uniform, and ordered structure due to stable driving forces evidenced by the cross sectional SEMs and the membranes thickness (Figure 3, top image) ⁵⁹.

Coating. Coating a 2D inorganic suspension on porous supports is a common, easy and scalable method to fabricate membranes. The structure of the resulting membranes depends strongly on the evaporation rate, surface tension, support type, and compatibility with the support. However, the compactness, thickness, and orientation of the layers are very difficult to control. The membrane properties can be tuned by the selection of a suitable coating method such as spin coating, drop-casting, spraying, and casting. Drop casting and dip coating are the simplest methods for the fabrication of 2D inorganic membranes. In spin coating, shear forces can help to generate

a smoother membrane with a well-oriented, interlocked structure ⁶⁰. Spray coating is known as a scalable method for constructing tubular membranes ⁶¹. The casting technique is effective for the coating of thin-film mixed-matrix membranes (MMMs), in which the motion of a doctor blade can facilitate the continuous fabrication of uniform, aligned membranes ^{58, 62}.

Layer-by-layer (LBL) assembly. This method is used mostly for materials with opposite surface charges ⁶³. Due to the presence of interactions between each layer, the membranes show an extremely dense structure that can provide high selectivity ⁶⁴. By controlling the material chemistry and the sequence of coating, we can prepare a large variety of membranes with desired performances ⁶².

5. MXene Membranes

2D inorganic materials such as MXenes, graphene and graphene oxides with subnanometer pores and channels can differentiate gas species with similar molecular sizes. The development of 2D materials membranes is very different from the fabrication of polymeric membranes. MXene layers are willing to self-assemble due to their strong hydrogen bonding and van der Waals interactions. Due to their rich functional groups, vacuum filtration is an effective method to fabricate free-standing and thin-film MXene membranes. An ideal MXenes nanosheet with no intrinsic pores on the layer is impermeable to all gases, and the membrane's high selectivity is obtained from the tortuous gas pathway created between the plane-to-plane nanochannels (Figure 1c).

The size of nanochannels in 2D membranes varies between sub-nanometer (<0.7 nm) and microspores (0.7 nm-2nm)⁶⁵, depending on the material feature, preparation, and membrane fabrication. This can cause a very wide range of gas separation properties. For example, Lei et al. ⁶⁶ prepared a 1.8 nm GO membrane via vacuum filtration technique that demonstrated a very high

 H_2/CO_2 selectivity of 3400. On the other hand, Nair ⁶⁷ observed that the micrometer GO thick membranes are impermeable to all gases and vapors due to the thousands of tightly GO monolayers. However, the interlocked GO membranes can possess CO_2/N_2 selectivity under high relatively humidified streams ⁶⁰.

In addition to the pure MXene films, many studies have been devoted to making composites consisting of MXenes and other inorganic or polymeric materials ⁶⁸. In this section, we will discuss recent progress in MXene membranes and the mechanism of gas transportation and suggest approaches to improve the separation performance and stability of MXene membranes.

5.1. Recent Progress in MXene Lamellar Membranes for Gas Separation

Ti₃C₂T_x MXene with a d-spacing of 1.35 nm and an actual interlayer spacing of 0.35 nm has a good potential to separate gas molecules of different sizes. Ding et al. ¹⁷ prepared sturdy freestanding Ti₃C₂T_x MXene membranes by vacuum filtration on anodic aluminum oxide (AAO) supports (Figure 4a). The peeled-off membrane (Figure 4a) exhibited high tensile strength ~51.5 MPa and Young's modulus ~3.8 GPa. The membranes also showed H₂ permeability of 2402 Barrer and H₂/CO₂ selectivity of 238, exceeding the 2008 Robeson upper bound (Figure 4b). Molecular dynamics simulation confirmed the size sieving ability of the nanoslits in MXene membranes. It showed fast permeation through the membranes for small gases such as H₂ and He, while gas species with a molecular size > 0.35 nm permeate 100 times slower ¹⁷. Also, the interaction of CO₂ with Ti₃C₂T_x owing to its quadrupole property inhibited the CO₂ passage and caused much lower permeance. It was reported that the main pathway of gas molecules in the Ti₃C₂T_x membranes takes place through the interlayer spacing (pathway B in Figures 1c and 1d). On contrary, Yu et al. ⁶⁶ reported that gas transport takes place through the selective pores and defects of ultrathin

GO membranes (pathway A in Figures 1c) rather than the interlayer channels. Based on calculated interaction energies of CO₂ (-175 kJ/mol) and N₂ (-97.5 kJ/mol) to Ti₃C₂T_x, it has been concluded that the high affinity of CO₂ to MXenes inhibited the gas diffusivity and caused inverse CO₂/N₂ selectivity¹⁷. Although the interlayer spacing (pathway B in Figures 1c and 1d) has been discussed mostly as the main pathway of gas molecules in the $Ti_3C_2T_x$ membranes, no conclusive evidence on the gas transport mechanism through the 2D materials membranes has been provided yet. On contrary, Yu et al.⁶⁶ reported that gas transport takes place through the selective pores and defects of ultrathin GO membranes (pathway A in Figures 1c) rather than the interlayer channels. In another study, Shen et al.¹³ reported that in-plane slit-like pores contribute more effectively to the gas permeation and sieving ability of the 20-nm MXene membranes rather than the interlayer galleries. Their finding was based on their observation of unchanged selectivity (e.g., H₂/C₃H₈ selectivity~110) of their MXene membranes after annealing and shrinkage of the d-spacing from 0.52 nm to 0.38 nm. However, Fan et al.⁶⁹ reported an opposite result; they attributed the higher selectivity of the MXene at higher temperatures to the lower interlayer spacing, which can be due to the higher H₂ diffusivity at higher temperatures.

Similar to other 2D materials, MXenes membranes are H₂-selective. The functionalization of Ti₃C₂T_x MXene with borate and polyethyleneimine (PEI) is an effective strategy to improve the CO₂ permeability and mechanical properties under humidified conditions. It was reported that the main pathway of gas molecules in the Ti₃C₂T_x membranes takes place through the interlayer spacing (pathway B in Figures 1c and 1d). On contrary, Yu et al. ⁶⁶ reported that gas transport takes place through the selective pores and defects of ultrathin GO membranes (pathway A in Figures 1c) rather than the interlayer channels. (Figures 4c and 4d), confirmed by the 43% higher CO₂ adsorption compared to the pristine Ti₃C₂T_x MXene ¹³ (Figures 4e).

When the feed gas was humidified, $Ti_3C_2T_x$ membranes functionalized with borate and amine groups showed improved CO₂ selectivity. It seems the surface modification changed the



Figure 4. (a) Cross-sectional SEM image of a free-standing MXene membrane (scale bar is 1 μ m) ¹⁷; (b) Comparison of H₂/CO₂ separation performance of the MXene membranes with the reported membranes in the literature ¹⁷; (c and d) The gas transport through the H₂-selective and CO₂-selective channels of the pristine MXene and MXenes functionalized with borate and PEI membranes ¹³; (e) Comparison of the gas sorption of the pristine MXene and functionalized

MXenes with borate and PEI membranes ¹³; (f) Effect of humidity on the H_2/CO_2 separation properties of the MXene membrane ¹³;(g) Long term stability of the MXene membrane at 320°C ⁶⁹.

stacking and interlayer spacing of MXenes and allowed CO₂ to pass more quickly ¹³. The increase of the feed gas humidity to 90% leads to a decrease in the H₂/CO₂ selectivity from 19.7 to 9.8, which can be attributed to water intercalation between the MXene galleries, facilitating the transportation of CO₂ molecules [table (f) in Figure 4]. Similar behavior was observed in thioureacrosslinked GO membranes with a ceramic support ⁷⁰, where the CO₂–philicity of the membranes caused a higher H₂/CO₂ selectivity than H₂/N₂. It seems that humidity boosts the effect of the surface modification of nanosheets on the CO₂ separation performance of the membranes. This is further supported by Shen et al.'s results ⁷¹ that their EFDA-functionalized GO membranes with a dry H₂/CO₂ gas feed showed a lower CO₂ flux. The enhanced H₂/CO₂ selectivity of the EFDA-GO membranes was explained by the strong adsorption of CO₂ on PEI molecules present in the EFDA-GO laminates, causing a delay in CO₂ transportation through the membrane. In another study, the high thermal stability of a MXene allowed the membrane to last up to 200 h of operation at 320°C without any sign of degradation or loss in the H₂/N₂ selectivity ~ 41 (Figure 4g) ⁶⁹.

Membrane Material	Thickness (µm)	Temp. (°C)	H₂/CO₂ Ratio	H ₂ Permeance (GPU)	H ₂ /CO ₂ Selectivity	Ref.
Modified MFI	2.000	500	50/50	627	105.0	72
ZIF-8	6.000	30	50/50	472	4.6	73
ZIF-7	2.000	220	50/50	136	13.6	74
COF300-ZIF8	97.200	25	N/A	110e+5	13.5	75
GO	0.002	20	50/50	360	2100.0	76
GO	0.009	20	50/50	344	3400.0	76

Table 2. Gas separation properties of state-of-the-art membranes other than MXene-based membranes used for H_2/CO_2 separation.

GO	0.018	20	50/50	311	2300.0	76
GO	0.003-0.010	130	N/A	~2200	~25.0	77
GO	0.003-0.010	140	N/A	~2500	40.0	77
GO/ND	0.008-0.012	25	N/A	1904	247.4	11
GO/POSS	0.008-0.012	25	N/A	2216	175.9	11
ZIF-8/GO	20.000	250	50/50	448	14.9	78
1T MoS ₂	0.5	25	50/50	619	7.6	79
2H MoS ₂	0.5	25	50/50	641	8.5	79
MoS ₂	0.017	35	N/A	27440	3.4	80
MoS ₂	0.035	35	N/A	7042	3.7	80
MoS ₂	0.060	35	N/A	2446	4.4	80
2D ZIFs	N.A.	25	50/50	~1202	172.0	81
2D ZIFs	N.A.	25	50/50	~1283	191.0	81
2D ZIFs	N.A.	25	50/50	~1364	261.0	81
2D MOFs	0.012	20	N/A	~8000	25.0	82
2D MOFs	0.040	20	50/50	~700	225.0	82
Zn2(bim)3	N.A.	25	N/A	2598	166.0	37
Zr-MOF	0.03-1.0	25	N/A	182	3.7	39
Zr-MOF-Naph	0.03-1.0	25	N.A.	104	15.0	39
Zr-MOF-Anth	0.03-1.0	25	N/A	72	31.9	39
CuBDC-GO	N.A.	25	N/A	2867	95.1	83
Zn2(bim)4/GO	N.A.	25	N/A	418	106.0	43
Co2(bim)4	N.A.	25	N/A	508	58.7	84

Membrane Material	Temp. (°C)	H ₂ /CO ₂ Ratio	H₂ Permeance (GPU)	H₂/CO₂ Selectivity	Ref.
MXene	25	50/50	3202	62.0	85
MXene	25	50/50	2226	167.0	85
MXene	25	50/50	1473	174.0	85
MXene	25	50/50	1302	200.0	85
Self-crosslinked MXene	25	90/10	17	16.0	86
Ni ²⁺ -MXene	25	50/50	249	615.0	87
MXene-Borate-PEI	25	50/50	350	28.0	13
MXene-Borate	25	50/50.	322	19.0	13
ZIF-8/MXene	25	N.A.	178	77.0	88
Pd-MXene	25	50/50	538	242.0	89

MXene membranes have shown higher permeabilities and similar selectivities compared to the existing 2D MOFs and zeolitic imidazolate frameworks (ZIFs) membranes (Table 2). Although GO membranes are more H_2 selective than MXenes, they have much lower H_2 permeabilities (Table 2). Membranes made from COFs have shown very high H_2 permeabilities but low H_2/CO_2 selectivities (Tables 2 and 3). Gas transport properties of MXene membranes can be adjusted through different modifications (Table 3).

5.2. Control Gas Transport Properties of MXenes Membranes

Similar to other 2D lamellar membranes, the gas permeation within the MXene membranes can take place in three different regions (Figures 1c and 1d): (i) in-plane slit-like pores formed from the non-structural defects between the adjacent MXene flakes; (ii) the plane-to-plane interlayer galleries which can be governed by coating methods and functional groups; and (iii) voids from the less ordered MXene layers that also were observed in GO and other 2D materials membranes ^{90 91}. The lateral size and functional groups of MXenes, the surface modification, the type of support, the MXene concentration in water, and the driving force during the materials deposition influence the packing density, layer orientation, and separation performance ^{91, 92}. The membrane fabrication process, especially the rate of MXene deposition on the substrate, and the drying temperature are critical to preventing voids formation and advancing the membrane separation performance ⁹¹. Furthermore, the strong repulsive forces between adjacent sheets disturb the ordered packing of layers during the self-assembly and deteriorate the gas selectivity (Figure 5a). The accurate control size of in-plane slit-like pores and interlayer spacing, and generating more

ordered nanolaminates are the main challenge to enhance permeability and selectivity ^{13, 93, 94}. The use of external force during the membrane fabrication is a successful approach to overcoming the destructive repulsive forces and preparing highly ordered 2D membranes. The tailoring of the stacking structure by using external forces can be carried out by capillary force, compressive, centrifugal and shear force during the membrane fabrications (Figures 5b-f). Although the common membrane fabrications such as vacuum and pressure-assisted filtration, spin-coating, and spray coating are very effective, the control of the pore size and the uniformity of galleries are very difficult. Therefore, the fabrication method to obtain a membrane with uniform pores and interlayer structure need further investigation. In addition to tuning the casting methods, the interlayer spacing and layer stacking can be controlled by chemical modification and making the intra-molecular interactions (e.g. electrostatic interactions, hydrogen and covalent bonding) between the layers (Figure 5e).

5.2.1. Membrane processing parameters: casting, concentration, time and temperature

It was observed that applying rational external forces during the assembling of nanoflakes can change the in-plane and plane-to-plane structures. Several studies revealed that the gas permeation initiates from the gas diffusivity through the in-plane slit-like pores and then interlayer galleries ^{67, 71, 95}. However, delicate control of channel size, and avoiding the formation of non-selective in-plane pores are very difficult. The most effective fabrication method is vacuum-spin coating where the vacuum-supplied capillary force along z-axis, and rotational force along the x, and y-axis can suppress the negative repulsion of in-plane and adjacent flakes (Figure 5f). Consequently, depending on the membrane fabrication methods, the packing and the alignment of layers differ in both in-plane and plane-to-plane directions. Atomic force microscopy (AFM) phase images also

show a smoother surface without visible defects for the membrane prepared via vacuum-spin coating ⁷¹.

Besides the type of a coating method, the MXene concentration in water, the rate of filtration, and the drying process can affect the structure and layer stacking. The porosity of MXene membranes decreased from 59% to 39% by increasing the MXene mass loading. This compaction resulted from more stacked MXene flakes and created more tortuosity and longer nanochannels which declined the permeation of molecules through the membrane⁹¹. In addition to the mass loading, the rate of deposition of MXene solution strongly affects the membrane flux. It was reported that faster vacuum filtration generates more random packing of 2D materials and significantly increased the flux ⁹². The unchanged d-spacing of the prepared MXene membranes from XRD data confirms the voids and non-packed structures in the membrane are the main reason for this noticeable difference in the membrane's permeation ⁹¹. The temperature of spin coating alters the interlocking and stacking of the 2D $Zn_2(bim)_4$ MOFs nanoslits, leading to different structures. Coating at higher temperatures increased the packing density and interlocking of nanosheets, which made the nanochannels more size-selective ^{36, 37}.

5.2.2. Synthesis, modification of MXenes: flake size, functional groups and interlayer ions

The engineering of MXene synthesis to modify the flake size, surface functional groups, and interlayer galleries can promote gas selectivity of the resulting membranes ⁶⁰. The membrane is permeable to a



Figure 5. Schematics of 2D membranes fabricated by applying different forces. (a) Self-assembly without any external forces; (b) capillary force; (c) centrifugal force and air shear force; (d) compressive force; (e) inter force; and (f) external force driven assembly approach for fabricating 2D channels. It involves three-dimensional external forces along the x, y, and z axes. The enlarged schematic shows force analyses for a 2D channel unit and a polymer chain. Three main types of forces are included: intrinsic repulsive force, external forces (compressive force, centrifugal force and shear force) and inner force between the nanosheets and the polymer chain. (g) Hypothetical evolution of surface and cross-section of GO-assembled 2D channels from intrinsic force-induced disordered structure (left) to highly ordered laminar structures (right) driven by introduced synergistic external forces⁷¹.

gas molecule at the suitable transmembrane pressure to overcome the gas energy barrier of pores entry. The lower gas permeability of membranes prepared with larger flake sizes is explained by a higher energy barrier and longer gas diffusion path. Also, the higher selectivity and lower gas flux of thicker membranes are ascribed to the more tortuosity and fewer low-selective in-plane pores within the laminates ⁶⁶.

Via the intercalation of cations between the galleries, chemical reactions, and mixing MXenes with other inorganic fillers, the nanochannel of MXenes can be adjusted, thus enabling the control of separation performance of the membranes. The insertion of positively charged ions or small nanoparticles between MXene layers expands the channel's width and thus increases the membrane flux. The Fe(OH)₃ nanoparticles with a diameter of 4-5 nm were uniformly bound on the MXene surface via electrostatic interactions. After the removal of the nanofiller using an HCl solution, 2D nanochannels with d-spacing values of 2-5 nm were created ¹⁸. In another study, H₂/CO₂ selectivity was improved by intercalating MXene nanosheets with Ni²⁺ and coating the modified nanosheets on Al₂O₃ hollow fibers via vacuum-assisted filtration ⁹⁶. The prepared membranes demonstrated an excellent H₂/CO₂ selectivity stems from strong interactions between MXene nanosheets and Ni²⁺, which tuned the interlayer spacing of the MXene. The membrane also showed stable gas separation performance during 200 h of operations ⁹⁶.

The interlayer spacing of the MXene galleries can be tailored using different synthesis methods. The presence of O, OH, and F functional groups expand the MXenes interlayer compared to the MAX phase. In addition to DMSO which was discussed earlier, the use of hydrazine, urea, thiophene, acetone, and formaldehyde for the intercalation of MXene layers increased the d-spacing of MXenes⁹⁷. The interlayer spacing of MXene depends on the type of etchant used in the

synthesis of the MXene. For example, the c-lattice parameters for the MXene etched with HCl-LiF are 25% larger than the HF-etched MXene due to the presence of Li⁺ between the layers ³². Mixing a MXene with graphene increased the d-spacing value from 1.3Å to 1.7Å ⁹⁸. Apart from the physical mixing, the polymerization of organic molecules, such as pyrrole and layered double hydroxide, on MXene layers is another approach to tune d-spacing ⁹⁹. In gas separation membranes, the interaction of molecules with intercalants and accurate changes in the d-spacing of MXene layers are worth to be investigated.

It was observed that the surface modification of nanosheets can change stacking structure and gas transportation regime from the permeation through the intrinsic defects of discrete flakes to 2D nanoslits formed between the interlocked adjacent sheets. For example, the GO-PEI interaction resulted in aligned GO nanochannels with a firm-ordered structure. Also, the intercalation of the polyethyleneimine (PEI) chain into the GO nanolayers enlarged the d-spacing and the actual interlayer distance, finely tuning the sieving ability and gas transportation through the GO assembled membranes. Also, the mechanical property and peeling-off force of the membranes were significantly improved by the intercalation of PEI molecules into the GO nanosheets ⁷¹. Crosslinking is an effective approach to enhance selectivity by narrowing the interlayer spacing and decreasing the repulsion force of the carboxylic functional groups on the 2D nanosheets ¹⁰⁰. The selectivity of GO membranes was enhanced by changing the reduction state and crosslinking the sheets. For example, the d-spacing of GO decreased to 3.6 Å after the removal of oxygen functional groups during the reduction process ¹⁰¹. The crosslinking of GO with thiourea also resulted in a smaller nanochannel, improving the H₂/CO₂ selectivity to 200 ⁷⁰.

5.3. Molecular Transport Mechanism of MXene-based Membranes

The mechanism of gas permeation through 2D inorganic membranes is not fully understood yet. The permeation is influenced by many factors such as membrane structural parameters and materials characteristics. The large aspect ratio of MXenes is responsible for different gas transport regimes such as molecular sieving, Knudsen diffusivity, surface diffusion, and capillary condensation. Fast gas permeation through the MXene membranes is the result of nanochannel with the d-spacing of 3.5 Å, and intrinsic pores formed during membrane fabrication. The Knudsen regime controls the diffusivity in pores of smaller or similar size than the mean free path of gas molecules ¹⁰². The flux of the membrane is calculated ¹⁰³:

$$J = \frac{\pi r^2 D_k n \Delta p}{RT \tau L}$$
(1)

where J is the membrane flux, r is the pore radius, n is the gas molar concentration, Δp is the transmembrane pressure, τ is the tortuosity of the channels, and L is the diffusion length. D_k is defined as $0.66r \sqrt{\frac{BRT}{\pi M_w}}$, where M_w is the gas molecular weight. The selectivity of the membranes is inversely proportional to the square root of the gas molecular weight ¹⁰⁴. In a study ¹⁰⁵, the gas transport mechanism through a Ti₃C₂T_x membrane was assessed by the investigation of gas permeance *vs.* the inverse square root of the gas molecular weight (Figure 6a) and the gas kinetic diameter (Figure 6b). It is a common practice in the characterization of gas separation membranes to represent the flux versus the square root of the molecular weight ratio to check the influence of Knudsen diffusion in the molecular sieving mechanism of the membranes ^{103, 106}. The linear correlation of H₂ and N₂ permeance in contrast to the inverse square molecular weight and their constant diffusivity coefficients at different pressures indicate the domination of Knudsen diffusivity. The deviation of H₂S permeance from the model prediction (dashed line in Figure 6b) reveals that the labyrinthine hopping transport is the dominant mechanism (D_{labyrinthine}). Also, the

diffusivity of the condensable gases increases significantly with increased pressure, which can be related to the expansion of the interlayer spacing.

$$D_{\text{labyrinthine}} = \frac{P}{h \times S} \frac{L_{av}^2}{4} \frac{1}{d_{\text{int}}}$$
(2)

where P is the permeance, S is the sorption coefficient, l is the membrane thickness, h and d_{int} are the interlayer and slit thickness available for gas permeation, respectively, and L_{av} is the average lateral size of the MXene ¹⁰⁵.



Figure 6. The dependence of gas permeance of $Ti_3C_2T_x$ membranes vs. (a) gas molecular weight and (b) gas kinetic diameter ¹⁰⁵; (c) scheme showing the $Ti_3C_2T_x$ degradation in an aqueous solution; and (d) $Ti_3C_2T_x$ concentration in a water suspension vs. time ¹⁰⁷.

The main pathway for gas molecules through the laminated membranes are in-plane pores (pathway A in Figure 1c) and interlayer galleries (Pathway B in Figure 1c). The repulsion forces between MXene nanosheets, which are negatively charged, disrupt the orientation and stacking of layers and caused larger d-spacing values. Therefore, for 2D materials, the control of interlayer spacing is critical to achieve excellent separation performance. The gas permeability is inversely proportional to the membrane thickness (h) and tortuosity (τ), and it is proportional to the membrane porosity (ϵ)¹⁰⁸

$$P = \left(\frac{l}{h}\right) \left[\left(\frac{\varepsilon_A}{\tau_A}\right) D_A K_A + \left(\frac{\varepsilon_B}{\tau_B}\right) D_B K_B \right]$$
(3)

where D_A and K_A are the diffusivity coefficient and adsorption equilibrium constant of a gas molecule passing through the in-plane pores (A), respectively, and D_B and K_B are those of a gas species permeating between the layers (B), respectively. Also, the tortuosity constant (τ) can be calculated from the aspect ratio. The diffusion length can be calculated by equation ¹⁰⁸:

$$l = h + N\frac{Q}{2} \qquad \qquad N = \frac{h}{Q+W}$$
(4)

where Q and W are the lateral size and width of the nanosheets, respectively.

The gas separation properties of the lamellar MXenes membranes can be mainly explained by the Knudsen diffusion and size sieving mechanisms. In general, the smaller gas species such as H₂ confront less hindrance to pass through the membranes. This indicates the significance of the size of nanochannels in the range of 3–4 Å, allowing the pores to separate H₂ from other molecules, via the size exclusion. Moreover, the gas permeation and selectivity are firmly affected by MXene characteristics such as the stacking density, lamellar size, defects, and functional groups ¹⁰⁹.

5.4. Stability of MXene Membranes

Despite recent progress in commercial polymer membranes for gas separation applications, there are still many challenges under realistic conditions such as poor thermal-chemical stability, plasticization under condensable gases, and low H_2/CO_2 selectivity. There are only a few glassy (e.g. polybenzimidazole ^{2, 110}) and rubbery polymers (e.g. PolarisTM) available in the market with

long-term stability. The pilot-plant scale of the Polaris membrane exhibited 740h-stable CO2/N2 separation performance with a CO₂ purity of 68.2% ¹¹¹. The stability of MXenes should be carefully considered in the MXene-based separation membranes. Although most of MXenes are synthesized in aqueous media, dissolved oxygen is the reason for the MXene degradation, which initiates from the edge of MXene sheets by the oxidation of Ti. The stability of MXenes strongly depends on the size of flakes; smaller flakes are more likely to degrade due to their longer edge length. It has been reported that a $Ti_3C_2T_x$ solution completely degrades after two weeks of exposure to air (Figures 5c and 5d)⁴⁸. However, storing it at a low temperature and in a dark place can decrease the degradation rate ¹¹². The hybridization of MXenes is also an effective strategy to protect the layers from oxidation by hindering the water intercalation between the galleries ¹¹³. For example, the performance of $Ti_3C_2T_x$ membranes under humidity and pressure was stabilized by the intercalation of MWCTs into the adjacent layers via the π - π stacking forces and van der Waals interactions. Mixing MXenes with polymers can be an effective strategy to prevent MXene degradation. Shamsabadi et al. ¹¹⁴ observed no gas performance change of Pebax/MXene MMMs after storing the membranes in the ambient conditions for six months.

Functional groups, interactions, and interlayer spacing affect the tensile properties of MXenes ¹¹⁵. The strong hydrogen bonds formed by –OH groups of MXenes cause much narrower d-spacing than the MXenes terminated by –O– and –F groups, leading to higher elastic modulus ¹¹⁶. Strong interactions between Ti elements and MXene functional groups can compensate for the intrinsic fragility of the pristine MXene, thus improving the stiffness by up to 30% upon oxygen modification ¹¹⁷. For example, it was shown that a folded MXene film in the shape of a cylinder with a thickness of 5.1 µm can support more than 4000 times its weight ²⁰. The strong mechanical properties of MXenes have motivated researchers to utilize these nanomaterials in polymer matrices for different applications.

6. Role of MXenes in Enhancing the Performance of MMMs

The concept of MMMs fabricated by embedding MXene flakes into a polymer matrix is a promising approach to fabricate highly-selective gas membranes. Tuning the transport path through the polymer film, the size-sieving ability of the MXene galleries, and increasing the adsorption capacity due to the rich-functional groups on the MXene surface can improve the gas permeability and selectivity of the polymeric membranes. In contrast to the pure MXene membranes, the MXene in the MMMs and thin-film nanocomposite membranes acts as a filler and can alter the length and tortuosity of the gas passage length, or increase the gas solubility in the polymer matrix. According to the solution-diffusion mechanism, the gas permeability in the nonporous polymeric membranes is a function of gas diffusivity and solubility coefficients 118 : P = $D \times S$. The presence of MXene layers can alter the diffusivity of the gas. Also, the functional groups form strong bonds with the polymer chains (Figure 7a) and enhance the affinity toward condensable gases such as $CO_2^{103,114}$. The interactions between amide groups and $Ti_3C_2T_x$, shown in Figure 7a, promote the dispersibility of the nanosheets into the polymer matrix. It has been observed that $Ti_3C_2T_x$ can tune the morphology of the block copolymers and improve the separation performance, because of its excellent compatibility with polymer chains ¹¹⁴.

Shamsabadi *et al.* ¹¹⁴ highlighted the gas separation of Pebax/MXene MMMs for CO₂ capture. They reported an enhancement in the CO₂ permeability and CO₂/N₂ selectivity at a very low MXenes loading (0.1 wt.%). Moreover, the sub-nanometer thickness of MXenes sheets provided the opportunity to fabricate 100 nm thin-film membranes (Figure 7b) on polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE) supports with exceptional CO₂ permeance ~1810 GPU and CO₂/N₂ selectivity of 42 (Figure 7c). Strong interactions between Pebax and the MXene were confirmed by FTIR, DSC and molecular dynamic (MD) simulations. Liu and co-workers ¹¹⁹ reported a significant improvement for the Pebax MMMs at 0.15 wt.% MXene concentration. The

 CO_2 permeance and the CO_2/N_2 selectivity were improved by 81% (21.6 GPU) and 73% (72.5), respectively, compared to the unloaded Pebax membrane. Similar behavior with improved CO₂ permeability and CO₂/N₂ selectivity was reported for Pebax/GO MMMs ³⁵. An enhancement in the transport properties of the Pebax-Ti₃C₂T_x composite membranes was observed elsewhere 120 . However, the agglomeration of fillers at high loadings creates nonselective voids between the nanosheets and the polymer chains and declines the permselectivity. A decrease in the gas solubility and diffusivity of Pebax/MXene composite membranes was observed at high MXene concentration, which was attributed to slight agglomeration in the permeable PEO domains ¹¹⁴. Polyacrylonitrile (PAN) nanofiber filters were modified with $Ti_3C_2T_x$ to enhance their adsorption capacity for the removal of particulate-matter particles with diameters \leq 2.5 µm. Interaction forces between the nanofibers and particles were analyzed quantitatively using force-distance curvebased AFM, which clearly showed three times stronger interactions after modification with $Ti_3C_2T_x$ due to the strong interactions of the particles with the surface-terminating groups of the nanosheets. A high particle removal efficiency of ~99.7% with a low-pressure drop of ~42 Pa was observed for the modified filters ¹²¹.

Physical mixing and in-site polymerization are two methods for the preparation of MMMs. To avoid non-selective defects in the membrane, the compatibility of the polymer solution with MXene is crucial. The *in-situ* polymerization generates uniform polymer films on the surface of MXene, although the number of monomers is limited due to the insufficient polymerization energy. The rich termination groups on the surface of MXenes facilitated the polymerization of pyrrole and 3,4-Ethylenedioxythiophene (EDOT) monomers (Figure 7d), followed by vacuum filtration of the solutions on porous supports ^{99, 122}. Shi *et al.* ¹²³ compared the impact of a MXene and GO on the thermal resistance, mechanical properties, and separation performance of Pebax membranes. The better dispersion and stronger interaction of the MXene than GO with the polymer chains led to higher mechanical properties. This also enabled the preparation of Pebax MMMs with a maximum of 20 wt.% MXene fillers without any decline in the membrane transport properties, while the maximum affordable GO concentration was only 5wt.%. This benefit of Pebax-MXene membranes is not significant in the separation in the dry state. However, higher MXene contents showed a remarkable advantage under a humidified gas feed, where the water intercalated in the nanochannels facilitating CO₂ transportation.



Figure 7. (a) Schematic illustration of hydrogen bonds formed in Pebax/MXene MMMs; (b) crosssectional SEM image of thin-film Pebax composite at 0.1 wt.% MXene (the scale bar is 500 nm); (c) comparison of the performance of Pebax-MXene thin-film composite membranes with other reported polymer composites in the literature ¹¹⁴; and (d) pyrrole polymerization on the surface of MXene ⁹⁹.

7. Other 2D Materials for Membrane Separation

There are many 2D materials with various features and properties for different applications. This section briefly describes existing 2D nanosheets and their advantages and disadvantages in the fabrication of thin-film inorganic membranes.

7.1. 2D Zeolite Membranes

The first research on the zeolite membranes showed the potential of these membranes due to their thermal stability, robustness, preferred orientation, and hydrophilicity/hydrophobicity properties 124 . The MFI-based membranes demonstrated high performance in separating ammonia/nitrogen and hydrocarbons/hydrogen 125 . MFI-based zeolite membranes have also been studied extensively for the separation of para/ortho-xylene isomers, with a selectivity of > 3000 at 150°C 126 . The intergrowth of 1D MEL-type zeolite within 2D-MDI allowed for tuning the planar structure and the direction/orientation of the channels led to improvement in the selectivity of para/ortho-xylene isomers 127 .

Moderate selectivity, high cost, low flux, and poor processibility are the main obstacles to the extensive use of zeolites in the membrane industry ¹²⁸. Moreover, zeolites have been found to be hardly exfoliated into nanosheets at enough quantity and appropriate quality for membrane application ¹²⁹. The fabrication of thin 2D zeolite membranes requires a controlled deposition process on costly rigid supports ^{126, 130}. For example, the preparation of an exfoliated MFI nanosheet with a thickness of 3 nm is possible. However, the fragmentation during the exfoliation process limits the in-plane dimension below 1 µm. Some progress to address this issue has recently been reported ¹³¹. In this study, the direct synthesis of MFI nanosheets by using zeolite flake as

the seeds advanced the uniformity of the MFI membranes and allowed for better control over the thickness of their membranes.

In summary, extensive progress has been made in the synthesis and modification of zeolite membranes. However, the random orientation of the layers, non-uniform thickness, and difficulty in the fabrication of thin-film membranes have limited the use of zeolites for high-selective gas separation membranes.

7.2. 2D MOF Membranes

Metal-organic frameworks (MOFs) are promising for use in molecular-sieving membranes due to their adjustable pore size and functionality for the desired separation. Both top-down and bottomup methods have been employed for the preparation of thin-film MOF membranes. In the topdown method, the exfoliation of MOFs in suitable organic solvents and careful delamination to prevent structural collapse, and assembling of defect-free exfoliated nanosheets on porous support limit the fabrication of high-selective MOF membranes. To fabricate a highly selective MOF membrane using a top-down method, the monolayer $Zn_2(bim)_4$ crystals were obtained by ball milling and sonication, and they were coated on alumina supports by the hot drop coating method ^{36, 37}. In similar work, Zhao *et al.* used the structural flexibility of 2D NAMS-1 for the preparation of ultra-thin membranes by the hot-casting method on AAO support ¹³². Although an excellent molecular sieving property resulted in an H₂/CO₂ selectivity of 290 and H₂ permeance of 2700 GPU, this method should be examined for other MOFs with different ligands and functionalities. The bottom-up methods are suitable for growing MOFs on porous solvents to construct defectfree ultra-thin membranes without having the concerns of poor adhesion and the compatibility of the MOFs with the sublayer. The development of a simple reaction for direct synthesis of 2D MOF nanosheets with high efficiency and yield has been a struggle. Nian et al. ⁴² designed a facile

bottom-up method to develop 2D Co-MOF nanosheets with the assistance of NH₄OH as a modulator (ammonia-assisted strategy). A similar approach was employed to make a 2D-ZIF membrane on porous alumina hollow fiber with the help of ZnO self-conversion and ammonia as a modulator ⁸⁴. Zhang et al. developed H₂/CO₂ membranes by deposition of 2D-Co-MOF nanosheets on a tubular porous ceramic support via ligand vapor phase transformation approach ⁴¹, which could be very challenging by the conventional casting methods (e.g. vacuum filtration, spin coating, etc.). The 2D MOF membrane with a thickness of 57 nm exhibited a very high H₂/CO₂ selectivity of about 59. In another study, 2D Zn-MOF membranes with the H₂/CO₂ selectivity of 106 were developed using ZnO particles as seeds to grow the MOF nanolaminates ⁴³. Ghalei *et al.* ³⁹ prepared different MOFs membranes on alumina supports using the *in-situ* solvothermal method. It was observed that using bulky ligands improves the sieving ability and H₂ selectivity against other gases. Density functional theory (DFT) calculations also confirmed that the diffusivity of CO₂, N₂, and CH₄ molecules through the pores decreased in MOFs with bulkier organic ligands, while the H₂ permeation was not affected. In conclusion, MOFs membranes are well-studied due to the facile tuning of the pore size, versatile structures, and abundant functional groups. However, the delamination of 2D MOFs and the high flexibility of the membranes are two weaknesses that have hindered their use as self-standing membranes, despite many advantages that they can offer.

7.3. Graphene Oxide Membranes

While graphene is impermeable to small gases such as H_2 and He due to the π -electron clouds density of aromatic rings ¹³³, GO with hydroxyl, epoxy, and carboxyl functional groups is extensively investigated in the gas separation membrane field. The GO membranes have been prepared via the membrane fabrication methods previously described. The channels between the adjacent GO sheets and the gas interactions with oxygen-containing functional groups control the

mass permeation. The external force during the membrane preparation induces the alignment of nanosheets and tunes the spacing between the adjacent GO sheets ⁷¹. Generally, controlling the spacing between the GO layers is an effective approach for designing high-performance separation membranes. The introduction of cations and other inorganic fillers (e.g. MOFs) into the interlayer region has been employed to control the d-spacing of GO membranes ¹³⁴. The physical mixing of UiO66 with GO and the interactions between the functional groups resulted in a higher H₂ permeability and H_2/N_2 and H_2/CO_2 selectivities ¹³⁵. In addition, the intergrowth of zeolite on the GO layers lowered the d-spacing and caused an improvement in the separation performance of the GO membranes ¹³⁶. Moreover, the covalently bonded organic molecules on the GO layers increased the stability and narrowed the interlayer spacing ⁷⁰. There have been studies on GObased membranes to investigate the effects of GO properties (lateral size, oxidization, defects, etc.), different supports, functionalization, and their composites with inorganic and polymer matrices on the gas separation performance of the membranes. However, more efforts should be allocated to scale up the membrane separation process, enhance the stability of the membranes against humidity, and reduce the pinholes and defects during the coating process.

7.4. 2D COF Membranes

Covalent organic frameworks (COFs) are porous crystalline polymers with highly ordered and coplanar backbone structures, which can be easily exfoliated into single layers ^{137, 138}. Therefore, they were vastly investigated in membrane and storage applications; however, there are few reports on using COFs membranes for gas separation because their large pore size (>1 nm) is larger than all gas kinetic diameters leading to no molecular sieving. The post-modification of COFs with different functional groups (e.g. hydroxyl, epoxy, and acetyl) ¹³⁷, and bilayer composites were introduced as effective approaches to reduce the aperture size to about 3–5Å. Fan *et al.* reported H₂-selective COFs membranes by successfully growing azine-based ACOF-1 and imine-based

COF-LZU1 layers by the solvothermal method ⁹⁴. The fabrication of bilayer COFs membranes requires a pore engineering technique to obtain high-selective membranes. The COF-COF membranes exhibited much higher H₂/CO₂, H₂/CH₄ and H₂/N₂ selectivities than the individual COF membranes. The concept of COF and cellulose nanofibers (CNFs) composites was later introduced by Yang *et al.* to tune the pore size of 2D COFs membranes for different applications ¹³⁹.

7.5. Transition Metal Dichalcogenides Membranes

2D Transition metal dichalcogenides (TMDs) are nonporous layered materials with the formula of X-M-X, where M is a transition metal (IV, V or VI) placed between two chalcogen atomic layers (mostly S and Se) ¹⁴⁰. The weak van der Waals interactions between the layers facilitate the intercalation of organic molecules and delamination of TMDs into monolayers, making them desirable for separation and storage ¹⁴¹. MoS₂ and WS₂ membranes have been extensively studied for gas separation. For example, the full exfoliation of MoS₂ was accomplished by butyl lithium, followed by coating on alumina supports to evaluate the H₂/CO₂ separation efficacy of the membranes. Although the 17 nm thick membrane demonstrated a very high H₂ permeance (27440 GPU), the H₂/CO₂ selectivity was 3.4, lower than the Knudsen selectivity of H₂/CO₂ \sim 4.7 ¹⁴². In another work ¹⁴³, a 500 nm membrane was prepared from a 1T-MoS₂ solution on an alumina support. The H₂/CO₂ selectivity of 8 was explained by the higher chemical/physical properties of the 1T-MoS₂ phase than the typical 2H-MoS₂, however, the synthesis of 1T phase was challenging ¹⁴⁴. The filtration of CO₂-philic [BMIM][BF4] ionic liquid through the assembled MoS₂ film membranes resulted in CO₂ selective membranes with an acceptable CO₂/N₂ selectivity ¹⁴⁵. Although there have been several studies on the TMDs-based membranes, the weak interactions between layers during the membrane fabrication led to poor mechanical integrity and improper layers assembly, which caused poor separation properties.

8. Conclusion and Outlook

The ideal material for gas and liquid separation should exhibit simultaneously high permeability and selectivity to ensure satisfactory energy efficiency and productivity. The discovery of the 2D nanomaterials, MXenes, which have good thermal and chemical stability, has motivated researchers to use them for the fabrication of gas and liquid separation membranes. This review put into perspective the attractive gas-separation properties of MXene-based membranes. Both pure MXene and polymers embedded with MXene flakes were considered in this review. The unique structure and the surface functional groups of MXenes have a substantial effect on the membrane separation performance. Tuning of the interlayer spacing and the packing density of nanoslits through the surface modification of MXene flakes enhance the gas diffusivity and solubility coefficients.

The research on MXene-based membranes for gas separation shows the high potential of the membranes. So far, the research has been limited to laboratory-scale studies. The membranes' performance under realistic conditions such as high feed pressure deviates from that measured under laboratory ideal conditions. Although 2D materials have high mechanical properties (e.g. tensile strength > 50 MPa and Young's modulus of 3.8 GPa for 2μ m MXene membrane ¹⁷), it is still not certain if the membranes can withstand a realistic harsh pressure such as the pressure of a natural gas sweetening process (ca. 65 bar) ¹⁴⁶. Moreover, the separation properties of most 2D membranes reported in the literature have been recorded under zero transmembrane pressure in Wicke-Kallenbach gas permeation cells. The gas selectivity of uncoated support needs to be determined beforehand to check if the backflow of carrier gas takes place. At best, the selectivity of the support is Knudsen selectivity, and any larger values ascertain the backflow and pseudo-separation properties. An unreal selectivity can be avoided by conducting the gas permeation testing of 2D laminar membranes at a minimum feed pressure.

Thus, studies on the commercialization of these membranes need to be conducted. First, industrialscale production of MXenes should be addressed. The harsh chemical etching method for MXene synthesis not only could damage the flakes and reduce the lateral size, but also it would limit scaling up the production. The recently developed 2D transition metal borides (MBenes) are worth mentioning due to their high stability and milder etching reaction, which makes them more valuable over MXenes in terms of sustainability for gas separation membranes ¹⁴⁷. Second, the long-term stability of MXenes is another obstacle in using these materials for practical applications. Luckily, many efforts have been devoted to stabilize the MXene structure against oxidation and ultraviolet (UV) light by modifying MXene's surface, mixing MXenes with polymers, preparing MXene/inorganic materials composites, and optimizing synthesis methods and sonication ¹⁴⁸. Third, the interactions of MXenes with gas molecules, the interactions of composite membranes with other 2D materials, and the effects of termination functional groups and the MXene flake size on the gas separation performance are still not well understood. Fourth, most MXene-based membranes, or generally laminated films, are still prepared with filtration and spin coating methods, which are hard to scale up. Electrophoretic deposition is an effective strategy to scale up the 2D membrane production. The assembly of negatively charged MXene nanosheets on the anode facilitates the control of the membrane thickness by changing the electrophoresis deposition time ¹⁴⁹. Fifth, the fabrication of MXene-based membranes on a large scale with an acceptable homogenous structure and reproducibility is probably the bottleneck for the commercialization, as the pressure difference is not uniform over the porous support. Sixth, computational/theoretical methods such as molecular dynamics (MD) simulations and DFT should be applied more to understand the governing mechanisms of gas transport, especially the dominant transport regimes for each gas at the different sizes of nanochannels and functional groups.

Acknowledgment

A. P. Isfahani and M. Soroush acknowledge financial support from the U.S. National Science Foundation under Grant No. CBET–1804285 and CMMI-2134607. Any opinions, findings, and conclusions or recommendations expressed in this material are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the National Science Foundation.

References

(1) Shamsabadi, A. A.; Fakhraai, Z.; Soroush, M. MXene-based molecular sieving membranes for highly efficient gas separation. In *Mxenes and their Composites*, Elsevier, 2022; pp 595-616. Xiang, J.; Wang, X.; Ding, M.; Tang, X.; Zhang, S.; Zhang, X.; Xie, Z. The role of lateral size of MXene nanosheets in membrane filtration of dyeing wastewater: Membrane characteristic and performance. *Chemosphere* **2022**, 133728.
 (2) Bitter, J. H.; Asadi Tashvigh, A. Recent Advances in Polybenzimidazole Membranes for Hydrogen Purification. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research* **2022**, *61* (18), 6125-6134.

(3) Firouzjaei, M. D.; Shamsabadi, A. A.; Aktij, S. A.; Seyedpour, S. F.; Sharifian Gh, M.; Rahimpour, A.; Esfahani, M. R.; Ulbricht, M.; Soroush, M. Exploiting synergetic effects of graphene oxide and a silverbased metal–organic framework to enhance antifouling and anti-biofouling properties of thin-film nanocomposite membranes. *ACS applied materials & interfaces* **2018**, *10* (49), 42967-42978.

(4) Seyedpour, S. F.; Rahimpour, A.; Shamsabadi, A. A.; Soroush, M. Improved performance and antifouling properties of thin-film composite polyamide membranes modified with nano-sized bactericidal graphene quantum dots for forward osmosis. *Chemical Engineering Research and Design* **2018**, *139*, 321-334.

(5) Ding, L.; Li, L.; Liu, Y.; Wu, Y.; Lu, Z.; Deng, J.; Wei, Y.; Caro, J.; Wang, H. Effective ion sieving with Ti3C2Tx MXene membranes for production of drinking water from seawater. *Nature Sustainability* **2020**, *3* (4), 296-302.

(6) Alameda, L. T.; Moradifar, P.; Metzger, Z. P.; Alem, N.; Schaak, R. E. Topochemical deintercalation of Al from MoAlB: stepwise etching pathway, layered intergrowth structures, and two-dimensional MBene. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **2018**, *140* (28), 8833-8840.

(7) Zirehpour, A.; Rahimpour, A.; Arabi Shamsabadi, A.; Sharifian Gh, M.; Soroush, M. Mitigation of thinfilm composite membrane biofouling via immobilizing nano-sized biocidal reservoirs in the membrane active layer. *Environmental science & technology* **2017**, *51* (10), 5511-5522.

(8) Liu, J.; Han, G.; Zhao, D.; Lu, K.; Gao, J.; Chung, T.-S. Self-standing and flexible covalent organic framework (COF) membranes for molecular separation. *Science advances* **2020**, *6* (41), eabb1110.

(9) Novoselov, K. S.; Geim, A. K.; Morozov, S. V.; Jiang, D.-e.; Zhang, Y.; Dubonos, S. V.; Grigorieva, I. V.; Firsov, A. A. Electric field effect in atomically thin carbon films. *science* **2004**, *306* (5696), 666-669.

(10) Yoo, B. M.; Shin, J. E.; Lee, H. D.; Park, H. B. Graphene and graphene oxide membranes for gas separation applications. *Current opinion in chemical engineering* **2017**, *16*, 39-47. Liu, G.; Jin, W.; Xu, N. Two ⁻ dimensional ⁻ material membranes: a new family of high ⁻ performance separation membranes. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition* **2016**, *55* (43), 13384-13397. Wang, S.; Yang, L.; He, G.; Shi, B.; Li, Y.; Wu, H.; Zhang, R.; Nunes, S.; Jiang, Z. Two-dimensional nanochannel membranes for molecular and ionic separations. *Chemical Society Reviews* **2020**, *49* (4), 1071-1089. Cheng, Y.; Pu, Y.; Zhao, D. Two ⁻

Dimensional Membranes: New Paradigms for High - Performance Separation Membranes. Chemistry-An

Asian Journal **2020**, 15 (15), 2241-2270. Ying, W.; Khan, A.; Peng, X. Gas transport through twodimensional nanoslits. *Materials Today Nano* **2020**, 10, 100074.

(11) Huang, G.; Ghalei, B.; Pournaghshband Isfahani, A.; Karahan, H. E.; Terada, D.; Qin, D.; Li, C.; Tsujimoto, M.; Yamaguchi, D.; Sugimoto, K. Overcoming humidity-induced swelling of graphene oxide-based hydrogen membranes using charge-compensating nanodiamonds. *Nature Energy* **2021**, *6* (12), 1176-1187. (12) Meng, X.; Fan, Y.; Zhu, J.; Jin, Y.; Li, C.; Yang, N.; Zhao, J.; Sunarso, J.; Liu, S. Improving hydrogen permeation and interface property of ceramic-supported graphene oxide membrane via embedding of silicalite-1 zeolite into Al2O3 hollow fiber. *Separation and Purification Technology* **2019**, *227*, 115712. Lu, Z.; Wei, Y.; Deng, J.; Ding, L.; Li, Z.-K.; Wang, H. Self-crosslinked MXene (Ti3C2T x) membranes with good antiswelling property for monovalent metal ion exclusion. *ACS nano* **2019**, *13* (9), 10535-10544.

(13) Shen, J.; Liu, G.; Ji, Y.; Liu, Q.; Cheng, L.; Guan, K.; Zhang, M.; Liu, G.; Xiong, J.; Yang, J. 2D MXene nanofilms with tunable gas transport channels. *Advanced Functional Materials* **2018**, *28* (31), 1801511.

(14) Qu, K.; Huang, K.; Xu, Z. Recent progress in the design and fabrication of MXene-based membranes. *Frontiers of Chemical Science and Engineering* **2021**, *15* (4), 820-836.

(15) Wang, J.; Chen, P.; Shi, B.; Guo, W.; Jaroniec, M.; Qiao, S. Z. A regularly channeled lamellar membrane for unparalleled water and organics permeation. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition* **2018**, *57* (23), 6814-6818.

(16) Hummer, G.; Rasaiah, J. C.; Noworyta, J. P. Water conduction through the hydrophobic channel of a carbon nanotube. *nature* **2001**, *414* (6860), 188-190.

(17) Ding, L.; Wei, Y.; Li, L.; Zhang, T.; Wang, H.; Xue, J.; Ding, L.-X.; Wang, S.; Caro, J.; Gogotsi, Y. MXene molecular sieving membranes for highly efficient gas separation. *Nature communications* **2018**, *9* (1), 1-7.

(18) Ding, L.; Wei, Y.; Wang, Y.; Chen, H.; Caro, J.; Wang, H. A two - dimensional lamellar membrane: MXene nanosheet stacks. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition* **2017**, *56* (7), 1825-1829.

(19) Lukatskaya, M. R.; Mashtalir, O.; Ren, C. E.; Dall'Agnese, Y.; Rozier, P.; Taberna, P. L.; Naguib, M.; Simon, P.; Barsoum, M. W.; Gogotsi, Y. Cation intercalation and high volumetric capacitance of two-dimensional titanium carbide. *Science* **2013**, *341* (6153), 1502-1505.

(20) Ling, Z.; Ren, C. E.; Zhao, M.-Q.; Yang, J.; Giammarco, J. M.; Qiu, J.; Barsoum, M. W.; Gogotsi, Y. Flexible and conductive MXene films and nanocomposites with high capacitance. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **2014**, *111* (47), 16676-16681.

(21) Naguib, M.; Mochalin, V. N.; Barsoum, M. W.; Gogotsi, Y. 25th anniversary article: MXenes: a new family of two ⁻ dimensional materials. *Advanced materials* **2014**, *26* (7), 992-1005. Liu, G.; Shen, J.; Liu, Q.; Liu, G.; Xiong, J.; Yang, J.; Jin, W. Ultrathin two-dimensional MXene membrane for pervaporation desalination. *Journal of membrane science* **2018**, *548*, 548-558.

(22) Ronchi, R. M.; Arantes, J. T.; Santos, S. F. Synthesis, structure, properties and applications of MXenes: Current status and perspectives. *Ceramics International* **2019**, *45* (15), 18167-18188. Wang, H.; Wu, Y.; Yuan, X.; Zeng, G.; Zhou, J.; Wang, X.; Chew, J. W. Clay - inspired MXene - based electrochemical devices

and photo - electrocatalyst: state - of - the - art progresses and challenges. *Advanced Materials* **2018**, *30* (12), 1704561.

(23) Anasori, B.; Lukatskaya, M. R.; Gogotsi, Y. 2D metal carbides and nitrides (MXenes) for energy storage. *Nature Reviews Materials* **2017**, *2* (2), 1-17. Ghalei, B.; Pournaghshband Isfahani, A.; Sadeghi, M.; Vakili, E.; Jalili, A. Polyurethane - mesoporous silica gas separation membranes. *Polymers for Advanced Technologies* **2018**, *29* (2), 874-883. Pang, J.; Mendes, R. G.; Bachmatiuk, A.; Zhao, L.; Ta, H. Q.; Gemming, T.; Liu, H.; Liu, Z.; Rummeli, M. H. Applications of 2D MXenes in energy conversion and storage systems. *Chemical Society Reviews* **2019**, *48* (1), 72-133. Zhang, C.; Ma, Y.; Zhang, X.; Abdolhosseinzadeh, S.; Sheng,

H.; Lan, W.; Pakdel, A.; Heier, J.; Nüesch, F. Two - dimensional transition metal carbides and nitrides

(MXenes): synthesis, properties, and electrochemical energy storage applications. *Energy & Environmental Materials* **2020**, *3* (1), 29-55.

(24) Zhu, J.; Ha, E.; Zhao, G.; Zhou, Y.; Huang, D.; Yue, G.; Hu, L.; Sun, N.; Wang, Y.; Lee, L. Y. S. Recent advance in MXenes: a promising 2D material for catalysis, sensor and chemical adsorption. *Coordination Chemistry Reviews* **2017**, *352*, 306-327.

(25) Lin, H.; Chen, Y.; Shi, J. Insights into 2D MXenes for versatile biomedical applications: current advances and challenges ahead. *Advanced Science* **2018**, *5* (10), 1800518. Huang, K.; Li, Z.; Lin, J.; Han, G.; Huang, P. Two-dimensional transition metal carbides and nitrides (MXenes) for biomedical applications. *Chemical Society Reviews* **2018**, *47* (14), 5109-5124. Soleymaniha, M.; Shahbazi, M. A.; Rafieerad, A. R.; Maleki, A.; Amiri, A. Promoting role of MXene nanosheets in biomedical sciences: therapeutic and biosensing innovations. *Advanced healthcare materials* **2019**, *8* (1), 1801137. Arabi Shamsabadi, A.; Sharifian Gh, M.; Anasori, B.; Soroush, M. Antimicrobial mode-of-action of colloidal Ti3C2T x MXene nanosheets. *ACS Sustainable Chemistry & Engineering* **2018**, *6* (12), 16586-16596. Li, Z. K.; Wei, Y.; Gao, X.; Ding, L.; Lu, Z.; Deng, J.; Yang, X.; Caro, J.; Wang, H. Antibiotics separation with MXene membranes based on regularly stacked high - aspect - ratio nanosheets. *Angewandte Chemie* **2020**, *132* (24), 9838-9843.

(26) Zhang, Y.; Wang, L.; Zhang, N.; Zhou, Z. Adsorptive environmental applications of MXene nanomaterials: a review. *RSC advances* **2018**, *8* (36), 19895-19905. Zhao, X.; Zha, X.-J.; Tang, L.-S.; Pu, J.-H.; Ke, K.; Bao, R.-Y.; Liu, Z.-y.; Yang, M.-B.; Yang, W. Self-assembled core-shell polydopamine@ MXene with synergistic solar absorption capability for highly efficient solar-to-vapor generation. *Nano Research* **2020**, *13* (1), 255-264. Huang, L.; Lin, H. Engineering sub-nanometer channels in two-dimensional materials for membrane gas separation. *Membranes* **2018**, *8* (4), 100. Kim, S.; Wang, H.; Lee, Y. M. 2D nanosheets and their composite membranes for water, gas, and ion separation. *Angewandte Chemie* **2019**, *131* (49), 17674-17689. Kang, Y.; Xia, Y.; Wang, H.; Zhang, X. 2D laminar membranes for selective water and ion transport. *Advanced Functional Materials* **2019**, *29* (29), 1902014. Karahan, H. E.; Goh, K.; Zhang,

C.; Yang, E.; Yıldırım, C.; Chuah, C. Y.; Ahunbay, M. G.; Lee, J.; Tantekin - Ersolmaz, Ş. B.; Chen, Y. MXene materials for designing advanced separation membranes. *Advanced Materials* **2020**, *32* (29), 1906697. Li, J.; Li, X.; Van der Bruggen, B. An MXene-based membrane for molecular separation. *Environmental Science: Nano* **2020**, *7* (5), 1289-1304. Mozafari, M.; Arabi Shamsabadi, A.; Rahimpour, A.; Soroush, M. Ion - Selective MXene - Based Membranes: Current Status and Prospects. *Advanced Materials Technologies* **2021**, *6* (10), 2001189. Isfahani, A. P.; Shamsabadi, A. A.; Alimohammadi, F.; Soroush, M. Efficient Mercury Removal from Aqueous Solutions Using Carboxylated Ti3C2Tx MXene. *Journal of Hazardous Materials* **2022**, 128780.

(27) Ren, C. E.; Hatzell, K. B.; Alhabeb, M.; Ling, Z.; Mahmoud, K. A.; Gogotsi, Y. Charge-and size-selective ion sieving through Ti3C2T x MXene membranes. *The journal of physical chemistry letters* **2015**, *6* (20), 4026-4031.

(28) Shao, D.-D.; Zhang, Q.; Wang, L.; Wang, Z.-Y.; Jing, Y.-X.; Cao, X.-L.; Zhang, F.; Sun, S.-P. Enhancing interfacial adhesion of MXene nanofiltration membranes via pillaring carbon nanotubes for pressure and solvent stable molecular sieving. *Journal of Membrane Science* **2021**, *623*, 119033. Xing, Y.; Akonkwa, G.; Liu, Z.; Ye, H.; Han, K. Crumpled two-dimensional Ti3C2T x MXene lamellar membranes for solvent permeation and separation. *ACS Applied Nano Materials* **2020**, *3* (2), 1526-1534.

(29) Firouzjaei, M. D.; Karimiziarani, M.; Moradkhani, H.; Elliott, M.; Anasori, B. MXenes: The twodimensional influencers. Elsevier: 2022; Vol. 13, p 100202.

(30) Hemanth, N. R.; Kandasubramanian, B. Recent Advances in 2D MXenes for Enhanced Cation Intercalation in Energy Harvesting Applications: A Review. *Chemical Engineering Journal* **2019**.

(31) Yang, E.; Alayande, A. B.; Goh, K.; Kim, C.-M.; Chu, K.-H.; Hwang, M.-H.; Ahn, J.-H.; Chae, K.-J. 2D materials-based membranes for hydrogen purification: Current status and future prospects. *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy* **2021**, *46* (20), 11389-11410.

(32) Ghidiu, M.; Lukatskaya, M. R.; Zhao, M.-Q.; Gogotsi, Y.; Barsoum, M. W. Conductive two-dimensional titanium carbide 'clay' with high volumetric capacitance. *Nature* **2014**, *516* (7529), 78-81.

(33) Koenig, S. P.; Wang, L.; Pellegrino, J.; Bunch, J. S. Selective molecular sieving through porous graphene. *Nature nanotechnology* **2012**, *7* (11), 728-732.

(34) Huang, S.; Dakhchoune, M.; Luo, W.; Oveisi, E.; He, G.; Rezaei, M.; Zhao, J.; Alexander, D. T.; Züttel, A.; Strano, M. S. Single-layer graphene membranes by crack-free transfer for gas mixture separation. *Nature communications* **2018**, *9*(1), 1-11. Zhao, J.; He, G.; Huang, S.; Villalobos, L.; Dakhchoune, M.; Bassas, H.; Agrawal, K. Etching gas-sieving nanopores in single-layer graphene with an angstrom precision for high-performance gas mixture separation. *Science advances* **2019**, *5*(1), eaav1851. Kidambi, P. R.; Nguyen, G.

D.; Zhang, S.; Chen, Q.; Kong, J.; Warner, J.; Li, A. P.; Karnik, R. Facile Fabrication of Large - Area Atomically Thin Membranes by Direct Synthesis of Graphene with Nanoscale Porosity. *Advanced Materials* **2018**, *30* (49), 1804977.

(35) Huang, G.; Isfahani, A. P.; Muchtar, A.; Sakurai, K.; Shrestha, B. B.; Qin, D.; Yamaguchi, D.; Sivaniah, E.; Ghalei, B. Pebax/ionic liquid modified graphene oxide mixed matrix membranes for enhanced CO2 capture. *Journal of membrane science* **2018**, *565*, 370-379.

(36) Peng, Y.; Li, Y.; Ban, Y.; Jin, H.; Jiao, W.; Liu, X.; Yang, W. Metal-organic framework nanosheets as building blocks for molecular sieving membranes. *Science* **2014**, *346* (6215), 1356-1359.

(37) Peng, Y.; Li, Y.; Ban, Y.; Yang, W. Two ⁻ dimensional metal–organic framework nanosheets for membrane ⁻ based gas separation. *Angewandte Chemie* **2017**, *129* (33), 9889-9893.

(38) Abhervé, A.; Manas-Valero, S.; Clemente-León, M.; Coronado, E. Graphene related magnetic materials: micromechanical exfoliation of 2D layered magnets based on bimetallic anilate complexes with inserted [Fe III (acac 2-trien)]+ and [Fe III (sal 2-trien)]+ molecules. *Chemical science* **2015**, *6* (8), 4665-4673. Ding, Y.; Chen, Y.-P.; Zhang, X.; Chen, L.; Dong, Z.; Jiang, H.-L.; Xu, H.; Zhou, H.-C. Controlled intercalation and chemical exfoliation of layered metal–organic frameworks using a chemically labile intercalating agent. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **2017**, *139* (27), 9136-9139.

(39) Ghalei, B.; Wakimoto, K.; Wu, C. Y.; Isfahani, A. P.; Yamamoto, T.; Sakurai, K.; Higuchi, M.; Chang, B. K.; Kitagawa, S.; Sivaniah, E. Rational Tuning of Zirconium Metal - Organic Framework Membranes for hydrogen purification. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition* **2019**, *58*, 19034-19040.

(40) Zhao, M.; Wang, Y.; Ma, Q.; Huang, Y.; Zhang, X.; Ping, J.; Zhang, Z.; Lu, Q.; Yu, Y.; Xu, H. Ultrathin 2D metal–organic framework nanosheets. *Advanced Materials* **2015**, *27* (45), 7372-7378. Cliffe, M. J.; Castillo-Martínez, E.; Wu, Y.; Lee, J.; Forse, A. C.; Firth, F. C.; Moghadam, P. Z.; Fairen-Jimenez, D.; Gaultois, M. W.; Hill, J. A. Metal–organic nanosheets formed via defect-mediated transformation of a hafnium metal–organic framework. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **2017**, *139* (15), 5397-5404.

(41) Nian, P.; Liu, H.; Zhang, X. Bottom-up fabrication of two-dimensional Co-based zeolitic imidazolate framework tubular membranes consisting of nanosheets by vapor phase transformation of Co-based gel for H2/CO2 separation. *Journal of Membrane Science* **2019**, *573*, 200-209.

(42) Nian, P.; Liu, H.; Zhang, X. Bottom-up synthesis of 2D Co-based metal–organic framework nanosheets by an ammonia-assisted strategy for tuning the crystal morphology. *CrystEngComm* **2019**, *21* (20), 3199-3208.

(43) Li, Y.; Liu, H.; Wang, H.; Qiu, J.; Zhang, X. GO-guided direct growth of highly oriented metal–organic framework nanosheet membranes for H 2/CO 2 separation. *Chemical Science* **2018**, *9* (17), 4132-4141.

(44) Ying, Y.; Liu, D.; Ma, J.; Tong, M.; Zhang, W.; Huang, H.; Yang, Q.; Zhong, C. A GO-assisted method for the preparation of ultrathin covalent organic framework membranes for gas separation. *Journal of Materials Chemistry A* **2016**, *4* (35), 13444-13449. Li, G.; Zhang, K.; Tsuru, T. Two-dimensional covalent organic framework (COF) membranes fabricated via the assembly of exfoliated COF nanosheets. *ACS applied materials & interfaces* **2017**, *9* (10), 8433-8436. Tong, M.; Yang, Q.; Ma, Q.; Liu, D.; Zhong, C. Few-

layered ultrathin covalent organic framework membranes for gas separation: a computational study. *Journal of Materials Chemistry A* **2016**, *4* (1), 124-131.

(45) Li, Y.; Zhang, M.; Guo, X.; Wen, R.; Li, X.; Li, X.; Li, S.; Ma, L. Growth of high-quality covalent organic framework nanosheets at the interface of two miscible organic solvents. *Nanoscale Horizons* **2018**, *3* (2), 205-212. Peng, Y.; Huang, Y.; Zhu, Y.; Chen, B.; Wang, L.; Lai, Z.; Zhang, Z.; Zhao, M.; Tan, C.; Yang, N. Ultrathin two-dimensional covalent organic framework nanosheets: preparation and application in highly sensitive and selective DNA detection. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **2017**, *139* (25), 8698-8704.

(46) Shuck, C. E.; Sarycheva, A.; Anayee, M.; Levitt, A.; Zhu, Y.; Uzun, S.; Balitskiy, V.; Zahorodna, V.; Gogotsi, O.; Gogotsi, Y. J. A. E. M. Scalable Synthesis of Ti3C2Tx MXene. *Advanced Engineering Materials* **2020**, *22* (3), 1901241.

(47) Naguib, M.; Mashtalir, O.; Carle, J.; Presser, V.; Lu, J.; Hultman, L.; Gogotsi, Y.; Barsoum, M. W. Twodimensional transition metal carbides. *ACS nano* **2012**, *6* (2), 1322-1331.

(48) Zhang, C. J.; Pinilla, S.; McEvoy, N.; Cullen, C. P.; Anasori, B.; Long, E.; Park, S.-H.; Seral-Ascaso, A. s.; Shmeliov, A.; Krishnan, D. Oxidation stability of colloidal two-dimensional titanium carbides (MXenes). *Chemistry of Materials* **2017**, *29* (11), 4848-4856.

(49) Zhang, W. L.; Deng, L.; Liu, J.; Liu, Y.; Yin, J.; Zeng, H.; Zheng, W.; Zhang, A. Unveiling the Critical Role of Surface Oxidation of Electroresponsive Behaviors in Two-Dimensional Ti3C2T x MXenes. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry C* **2019**, *123* (9), 5479-5487. Natu, V.; Hart, J. L.; Sokol, M.; Chiang, H.; Taheri, M. L.;

Barsoum, M. W. Edge Capping of 2D - MXene Sheets with Polyanionic Salts To Mitigate Oxidation in Aqueous Colloidal Suspensions. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition* **2019**, *58* (36), 12655-12660.

(50) Natu, V.; Pai, R.; Sokol, M.; Carey, M.; Kalra, V.; Barsoum, M. W. 2D Ti3C2Tz MXene synthesized by water-free etching of Ti3AlC2 in polar organic solvents. *Chem* **2020**, *6* (3), 616-630.

(51) Castarlenas, S.; Gorgojo, P.; Casado-Coterillo, C.; Masheshwari, S.; Tsapatsis, M.; Tellez, C.; Coronas, J. Melt compounding of swollen titanosilicate JDF-L1 with polysulfone to obtain mixed matrix membranes for H2/CH4 separation. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research* **2013**, *52* (5), 1901-1907. Coleman, J. N.; Lotya, M.; O'Neill, A.; Bergin, S. D.; King, P. J.; Khan, U.; Young, K.; Gaucher, A.; De, S.; Smith, R. J. Two-dimensional nanosheets produced by liquid exfoliation of layered materials. *Science* **2011**, *331* (6017), 568-571. Nicolosi, V.; Chhowalla, M.; Kanatzidis, M. G.; Strano, M. S.; Coleman, J. N. Liquid exfoliation of layered materials. *Science* **2013**, *340* (6139), 1226419.

(52) Jiang, X.; Kuklin, A. V.; Baev, A.; Ge, Y.; Ågren, H.; Zhang, H.; Prasad, P. N. Two-dimensional MXenes: From morphological to optical, electric, and magnetic properties and applications. *Physics Reports* **2020**, *848*, 1-58.

(53) Liu, Z.; Xu, C.; Kang, N.; Wang, L.; Jiang, Y.; Du, J.; Liu, Y.; Ma, X.-L.; Cheng, H.-M.; Ren, W. Unique domain structure of two-dimensional α-Mo2C superconducting crystals. *Nano letters* **2016**, *16* (7), 4243-4250. Geng, D.; Zhao, X.; Chen, Z.; Sun, W.; Fu, W.; Chen, J.; Liu, W.; Zhou, W.; Loh, K. P. Direct synthesis of large - area 2D Mo2C on in situ grown graphene. *Advanced Materials* **2017**, *29* (35), 1700072. Xu, C.; Wang, L.; Liu, Z.; Chen, L.; Guo, J.; Kang, N.; Ma, X.-L.; Cheng, H.-M.; Ren, W. Large-area high-quality 2D ultrathin Mo 2 C superconducting crystals. *Nature materials* **2015**, *14* (11), 1135-1141. Gogotsi, Y. Chemical vapour deposition: transition metal carbides go 2D. *Nature materials* **2015**, *14* (11), 1079-1080. Halim, J.; Lukatskaya, M. R.; Cook, K. M.; Lu, J.; Smith, C. R.; Näslund, L.-Å.; May, S. J.; Hultman, L.; Gogotsi, Y.; Eklund, P. Transparent conductive two-dimensional titanium carbide epitaxial thin films. *Chemistry of Materials* **2014**, *26* (7), 2374-2381.

(54) Xiao, X.; Urbankowski, P.; Hantanasirisakul, K.; Yang, Y.; Sasaki, S.; Yang, L.; Chen, C.; Wang, H.; Miao, L.; Tolbert, S. H. Scalable Synthesis of Ultrathin Mn3N2 Exhibiting Room - Temperature Antiferromagnetism. *Advanced Functional Materials* **2019**, *29* (17), 1809001. Xiao, X.; Yu, H.; Jin, H.; Wu,

M.; Fang, Y.; Sun, J.; Hu, Z.; Li, T.; Wu, J.; Huang, L. Salt-templated synthesis of 2D metallic MoN and other nitrides. *ACS nano* **2017**, *11* (2), 2180-2186.

(55) Frey, N. C.; Wang, J.; Vega Bellido, G. I.; Anasori, B.; Gogotsi, Y.; Shenoy, V. B. Prediction of synthesis of 2D metal carbides and nitrides (MXenes) and their precursors with positive and unlabeled machine learning. *ACS nano* **2019**, *13* (3), 3031-3041.

(56) Mashtalir, O.; Naguib, M.; Mochalin, V. N.; Dall'Agnese, Y.; Heon, M.; Barsoum, M. W.; Gogotsi, Y. Intercalation and delamination of layered carbides and carbonitrides. *Nature communications* **2013**, *4* (1), 1-7. Naguib, M.; Unocic, R. R.; Armstrong, B. L.; Nanda, J. Large-scale delamination of multi-layers transition metal carbides and carbonitrides "MXenes". *Dalton transactions* **2015**, *44* (20), 9353-9358. Eames, C.; Islam, M. S. Ion intercalation into two-dimensional transition-metal carbides: global screening for new high-capacity battery materials. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **2014**, *136* (46), 16270-16276.

(57) Maleski, K.; Mochalin, V. N.; Gogotsi, Y. Dispersions of two-dimensional titanium carbide MXene in organic solvents. *Chemistry of Materials* **2017**, *29* (4), 1632-1640.

(58) Kwon, O.; Choi, Y.; Choi, E.; Kim, M.; Woo, Y. C.; Kim, D. W. Fabrication techniques for graphene oxidebased molecular separation membranes: Towards industrial application. *Nanomaterials* **2021**, *11* (3), 757. (59) Tsou, C.-H.; An, Q.-F.; Lo, S.-C.; De Guzman, M.; Hung, W.-S.; Hu, C.-C.; Lee, K.-R.; Lai, J.-Y. Effect of microstructure of graphene oxide fabricated through different self-assembly techniques on 1-butanol dehydration. *Journal of Membrane Science* **2015**, *477*, 93-100.

(60) Kim, H. W.; Yoon, H. W.; Yoon, S.-M.; Yoo, B. M.; Ahn, B. K.; Cho, Y. H.; Shin, H. J.; Yang, H.; Paik, U.; Kwon, S. Selective gas transport through few-layered graphene and graphene oxide membranes. *Science* **2013**, *342* (6154), 91-95.

(61) Zhu, J.; Hou, J.; Uliana, A.; Zhang, Y.; Tian, M.; Van der Bruggen, B. The rapid emergence of twodimensional nanomaterials for high-performance separation membranes. *Journal of Materials Chemistry A* **2018**, *6* (9), 3773-3792.

(62) Akbari, A.; Sheath, P.; Martin, S. T.; Shinde, D. B.; Shaibani, M.; Banerjee, P. C.; Tkacz, R.; Bhattacharyya, D.; Majumder, M. Large-area graphene-based nanofiltration membranes by shear alignment of discotic nematic liquid crystals of graphene oxide. *Nature communications* **2016**, *7* (1), 1-12.
(63) Riazi, H.; Anayee, M.; Hantanasirisakul, K.; Shamsabadi, A. A.; Anasori, B.; Gogotsi, Y.; Soroush, M. Surface modification of a MXene by an aminosilane coupling agent. *Advanced Materials Interfaces* **2020**, *7* (6), 1902008.

(64) Liu, Y.; Coppens, M.-O.; Jiang, Z. Mixed-dimensional membranes: chemistry and structure–property relationships. *Chemical Society Reviews* **2021**.

(65) Thommes, M.; Kaneko, K.; Neimark, A. V.; Olivier, J. P.; Rodriguez-Reinoso, F.; Rouquerol, J.; Sing, K. S. Physisorption of gases, with special reference to the evaluation of surface area and pore size distribution (IUPAC Technical Report). *Pure and applied chemistry* **2015**, *87* (9-10), 1051-1069.

(66) Li, H.; Song, Z.; Zhang, X.; Huang, Y.; Li, S.; Mao, Y.; Ploehn, H. J.; Bao, Y.; Yu, M. Ultrathin, molecularsieving graphene oxide membranes for selective hydrogen separation. *Science* **2013**, *342* (6154), 95-98.

(67) Nair, R.; Wu, H.; Jayaram, P.; Grigorieva, I.; Geim, A. Unimpeded permeation of water through heliumleak–tight graphene-based membranes. *Science* **2012**, *335* (6067), 442-444.

(68) Lu, Z.; Wu, Y.; Ding, L.; Wei, Y.; Wang, H. A Lamellar MXene (Ti3C2Tx)/PSS Composite Membrane for Fast and Selective Lithium - Ion Separation. *Angewandte Chemie* **2021**, *133* (41), 22439-22443.

(69) Fan, Y.; Wei, L.; Meng, X.; Zhang, W.; Yang, N.; Jin, Y.; Wang, X.; Zhao, M.; Liu, S. An unprecedented high-temperature-tolerance 2D laminar MXene membrane for ultrafast hydrogen sieving. *Journal of membrane science* **2019**, *569*, 117-123.

(70) Yang, J.; Gong, D.; Li, G.; Zeng, G.; Wang, Q.; Zhang, Y.; Liu, G.; Wu, P.; Vovk, E.; Peng, Z. Self - assembly

of thiourea - crosslinked graphene oxide framework membranes toward separation of small molecules. *Advanced Materials* **2018**, *30* (16), 1705775.

(71) Shen, J.; Liu, G.; Huang, K.; Chu, Z.; Jin, W.; Xu, N. Subnanometer two-dimensional graphene oxide channels for ultrafast gas sieving. *ACS nano* **2016**, *10* (3), 3398-3409.

(72) Tang, Z.; Dong, J.; Nenoff, T. M. Internal Surface Modification of MFI-Type Zeolite Membranes for High Selectivity and High Flux for Hydrogen. *Langmuir* **2009**, *25* (9), 4848-4852. DOI: 10.1021/la900474y.

(73) Zhang, X.; Liu, Y.; Li, S.; Kong, L.; Liu, H.; Li, Y.; Han, W.; Yeung, K. L.; Zhu, W.; Yang, W.; et al. New Membrane Architecture with High Performance: ZIF-8 Membrane Supported on Vertically Aligned ZnO Nanorods for Gas Permeation and Separation. *Chemistry of Materials* **2014**, *26* (5), 1975-1981. DOI: 10.1021/cm500269e.

(74) Li, Y.; Liang, F.; Bux, H.; Yang, W.; Caro, J. Zeolitic imidazolate framework ZIF-7 based molecular sieve membrane for hydrogen separation. *Journal of Membrane Science* **2010**, *354* (1), 48-54. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2010.02.074.

(75) Fu, J.; Das, S.; Xing, G.; Ben, T.; Valtchev, V.; Qiu, S. Fabrication of COF-MOF Composite Membranes and Their Highly Selective Separation of H2/CO2. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **2016**, *138* (24), 7673-7680. DOI: 10.1021/jacs.6b03348.

(76) Li, H.; Song, Z.; Zhang, X.; Huang, Y.; Li, S.; Mao, Y.; Ploehn, H. J.; Bao, Y.; Yu, M. Ultrathin, Molecular-Sieving Graphene Oxide Membranes for Selective Hydrogen Separation. *Science* **2013**, *342* (6154), 95. DOI: 10.1126/science.1236686.

(77) Kim, H. W.; Yoon, H. W.; Yoon, S.-M.; Yoo, B. M.; Ahn, B. K.; Cho, Y. H.; Shin, H. J.; Yang, H.; Paik, U.; Kwon, S.; et al. Selective Gas Transport Through Few-Layered Graphene and Graphene Oxide Membranes. *Science* **2013**, *342* (6154), 91. DOI: 10.1126/science.1236098.

(78) Huang, A.; Liu, Q.; Wang, N.; Zhu, Y.; Caro, J. Bicontinuous Zeolitic Imidazolate Framework ZIF-8@GO Membrane with Enhanced Hydrogen Selectivity. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **2014**, *136* (42), 14686-14689. DOI: 10.1021/ja5083602.

(79) Achari, A.; S, S.; Eswaramoorthy, M. High performance MoS2 membranes: effects of thermally driven phase transition on CO2 separation efficiency. *Energy & Environmental Science* **2016**, *9* (4), 1224-1228, 10.1039/C5EE03856A. DOI: 10.1039/C5EE03856A.

(80) Wang, D.; Wang, Z.; Wang, L.; Hu, L.; Jin, J. Ultrathin membranes of single-layered MoS2 nanosheets for high-permeance hydrogen separation. *Nanoscale* **2015**, *7* (42), 17649-17652, 10.1039/C5NR06321C. DOI: 10.1039/C5NR06321C.

(81) Peng, Y.; Li, Y.; Ban, Y.; Jin, H.; Jiao, W.; Liu, X.; Yang, W. Metal-organic framework nanosheets as building blocks for molecular sieving membranes. *Science* **2014**, *346* (6215), 1356. DOI: 10.1126/science.1254227.

(82) Wang, X.; Chi, C.; Zhang, K.; Qian, Y.; Gupta, K. M.; Kang, Z.; Jiang, J.; Zhao, D. Reversed thermoswitchable molecular sieving membranes composed of two-dimensional metal-organic nanosheets for gas separation. *Nature Communications* **2017**, *8* (1), 14460. DOI: 10.1038/ncomms14460.

(83) Yang, F.; Wu, M.; Wang, Y.; Ashtiani, S.; Jiang, H. A GO-induced assembly strategy to repair MOF nanosheet-based membrane for efficient H2/CO2 separation. *ACS applied materials & interfaces* **2018**, *11* (1), 990-997.

(84) Li, Y.; Lin, L.; Tu, M.; Nian, P.; Howarth, A. J.; Farha, O. K.; Qiu, J.; Zhang, X. Growth of ZnO selfconverted 2D nanosheet zeolitic imidazolate framework membranes by an ammonia-assisted strategy. *Nano Research* **2018**, *11* (4), 1850-1860.

(85) Ding, L.; Wei, Y.; Li, L.; Zhang, T.; Wang, H.; Xue, J.; Ding, L.-X.; Wang, S.; Caro, J.; Gogotsi, Y. MXene molecular sieving membranes for highly efficient gas separation. *Nature Communications* **2018**, *9*.

(86) Qu, K.; Dai, L.; Xia, Y.; Wang, Y.; Zhang, D.; Wu, Y.; Yao, Z.; Huang, K.; Guo, X.; Xu, Z. Self-crosslinked MXene hollow fiber membranes for H2/CO2 separation. *Journal of Membrane Science* **2021**, *638*, 119669.

(87) Fan, Y.; Li, J.; Wang, S.; Meng, X.; Jin, Y.; Yang, N.; Meng, B.; Li, J.; Liu, S. Nickel (II) ion-intercalated MXene membranes for enhanced H2/CO2 separation. *Frontiers of Chemical Science and Engineering* **2021**, *15* (4), 882-891.

(88) Hong, X.; Lu, Z.; Zhao, Y.; Lyu, L.; Ding, L.; Wei, Y.; Wang, H. Fast fabrication of freestanding MXene-ZIF-8 dual-layered membranes for H2/CO2 separation. *Journal of Membrane Science* **2022**, *642*, 119982.

(89) Wang, Q.; Fan, Y.; Wu, C.; Jin, Y.; Li, C.; Sunarso, J.; Meng, X.; Yang, N. Palladium-intercalated MXene membrane for efficient separation of H2/CO2: Combined experimental and modeling work. *Journal of Membrane Science* **2022**, *653*, 120533.

(90) Wang, Z.; Tu, Q.; Zheng, S.; Urban, J. J.; Li, S.; Mi, B. Understanding the aqueous stability and filtration capability of MoS2 membranes. *Nano letters* **2017**, *17* (12), 7289-7298. Saraswat, V.; Jacobberger, R. M.; Ostrander, J. S.; Hummell, C. L.; Way, A. J.; Wang, J.; Zanni, M. T.; Arnold, M. S. Invariance of water permeance through size-differentiated graphene oxide laminates. *ACS nano* **2018**, *12* (8), 7855-7865.

(91) Zhou, H.; Wang, Y.; Wang, F.; Deng, H.; Song, Y.; Li, C.; Ling, Z. Water permeability in MXene membranes: Process matters. *Chinese Chemical Letters* **2020**, *31* (6), 1665-1669.

(92) Xu, W. L.; Fang, C.; Zhou, F.; Song, Z.; Liu, Q.; Qiao, R.; Yu, M. Self-assembly: a facile way of forming ultrathin, high-performance graphene oxide membranes for water purification. *Nano letters* **2017**, *17* (5), 2928-2933.

(93) Li, Y.; Wu, Q.; Guo, X.; Zhang, M.; Chen, B.; Wei, G.; Li, X.; Li, X.; Li, S.; Ma, L. Laminated self-standing covalent organic framework membrane with uniformly distributed subnanopores for ionic and molecular sieving. *Nature communications* **2020**, *11* (1), 1-9.

(94) Fan, H.; Mundstock, A.; Feldhoff, A.; Knebel, A.; Gu, J.; Meng, H.; Caro, J. r. Covalent organic framework–covalent organic framework bilayer membranes for highly selective gas separation. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **2018**, *140* (32), 10094-10098.

(95) Huang, K.; Liu, G.; Lou, Y.; Dong, Z.; Shen, J.; Jin, W. A graphene oxide membrane with highly selective molecular separation of aqueous organic solution. *Angewandte Chemie* **2014**, *126* (27), 7049-7052. Huang,

K.; Liu, G.; Shen, J.; Chu, Z.; Zhou, H.; Gu, X.; Jin, W.; Xu, N. High - efficiency water - transport channels using the synergistic effect of a hydrophilic polymer and graphene oxide laminates. *Advanced Functional Materials* **2015**, *25* (36), 5809-5815.

(96) Fan, Y.; Li, J.; Wang, S.; Meng, X.; Jin, Y.; Yang, N.; Meng, B.; Li, J.; Liu, S. Nickel (II) ion-intercalated MXene membranes for enhanced H 2/CO 2 separation. *Frontiers of Chemical Science and Engineering* **2020**, 1-10.

(97) Omomo, Y.; Sasaki, T.; Wang, L.; Watanabe, M. Redoxable nanosheet crystallites of MnO2 derived via delamination of a layered manganese oxide. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **2003**, *125* (12), 3568-3575.

(98) Yan, J.; Ren, C. E.; Maleski, K.; Hatter, C. B.; Anasori, B.; Urbankowski, P.; Sarycheva, A.; Gogotsi, Y. Flexible MXene/graphene films for ultrafast supercapacitors with outstanding volumetric capacitance. *Advanced Functional Materials* **2017**, *27* (30), 1701264.

(99) Boota, M.; Anasori, B.; Voigt, C.; Zhao, M. Q.; Barsoum, M. W.; Gogotsi, Y. Pseudocapacitive electrodes produced by oxidant - free polymerization of pyrrole between the layers of 2D titanium carbide (MXene). *Advanced Materials* **2016**, *28* (7), 1517-1522.

(100) Cheng, L.; Guan, K.; Liu, G.; Jin, W. Cysteamine-crosslinked graphene oxide membrane with enhanced hydrogen separation property. *Journal of Membrane Science* **2020**, *595*, 117568.

(101) Qi, B.; He, X.; Zeng, G.; Pan, Y.; Li, G.; Liu, G.; Zhang, Y.; Chen, W.; Sun, Y. Strict molecular sieving over electrodeposited 2D-interspacing-narrowed graphene oxide membranes. *Nature communications* **2017**, *8* (1), 1-10.

(102) Lyu, J.; Wen, X.; Kumar, U.; You, Y.; Chen, V.; Joshi, R. Separation and purification using GO and r-GO membranes. *RSC advances* **2018**, *8* (41), 23130-23151.

(103) Wijmans, J. G.; Baker, R. W. The solution-diffusion model: a review. *Journal of membrane science* **1995**, *107* (1-2), 1-21.

(104) Mulder, M.; Mulder, J. *Basic principles of membrane technology*; Springer science & business media, 1996.

(105) Petukhov, D.; Kan, A.; Chumakov, A.; Konovalov, O.; Valeev, R.; Eliseev, A. MXene-based gas separation membranes with sorption type selectivity. *Journal of Membrane Science* **2021**, *621*, 118994.

(106) Julbe, A.; Drobek, M.; Ayral, A. About the role of adsorption in inorganic and composite membranes. *Current Opinion in Chemical Engineering* **2019**, *24*, 88-97. Coterillo, C. C.; Yokoo, T.; Yoshioka, T.; Tsuru, T.; Asaeda, M. Synthesis and characterization of microporous ZrO2 membranes for gas permeation at 200° C. *Separation Science and Technology* **2011**, *46* (8), 1224-1230.

(107) Zhang, C. J.; Pinilla, S.; McEvoy, N.; Cullen, C. P.; Anasori, B.; Long, E.; Park, S.-H.; Seral-Ascaso, A.; Shmeliov, A.; Krishnan, D. Oxidation stability of colloidal two-dimensional titanium carbides (MXenes). *Chemistry of Materials* **2017**, *29* (11), 4848-4856.

(108) Wang, W.; Wei, Y.; Fan, J.; Cai, J.; Lu, Z.; Ding, L.; Wang, H. Recent progress of two-dimensional nanosheet membranes and composite membranes for separation applications. *Frontiers of Chemical Science and Engineering* **2021**, *15* (4), 793-819.

(109) Ritt, C. L.; Werber, J. R.; Deshmukh, A.; Elimelech, M. Monte Carlo simulations of framework defects in layered two-dimensional nanomaterial desalination membranes: implications for permeability and selectivity. *Environmental science & technology* **2019**, *53* (11), 6214-6224.

(110) Naderi, A.; Tashvigh, A. A.; Chung, T.-S.; Weber, M.; Maletzko, C. Molecular design of double crosslinked sulfonated polyphenylsulfone/polybenzimidazole blend membranes for an efficient hydrogen purification. *Journal of membrane science* **2018**, *563*, 726-733.

(111) Han, Y.; Yang, Y.; Ho, W. W. Recent progress in the engineering of polymeric membranes for CO2 capture from flue gas. *Membranes* **2020**, *10* (11), 365.

(112) Nan, J.; Guo, X.; Xiao, J.; Li, X.; Chen, W.; Wu, W.; Liu, H.; Wang, Y.; Wu, M.; Wang, G. Nanoengineering of 2D MXene - based materials for energy storage applications. *Small* **2021**, *17* (9), 1902085.

(113) Chen, W. Y.; Jiang, X.; Lai, S.-N.; Peroulis, D.; Stanciu, L. Nanohybrids of a MXene and transition metal dichalcogenide for selective detection of volatile organic compounds. *Nature communications* **2020**, *11* (1), 1-10.

(114) Shamsabadi, A. A.; Isfahani, A. P.; Salestan, S. K.; Rahimpour, A.; Ghalei, B.; Sivaniah, E.; Soroush, M. Pushing Rubbery Polymer Membranes To Be Economic for CO2 Separation: Embedment with Ti3C2Tx MXene Nanosheets. *ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces* **2020**, *12* (3), 3984-3992. DOI: 10.1021/acsami.9b19960.

(115) Bai, Y.; Zhou, K.; Srikanth, N.; Pang, J. H.; He, X.; Wang, R. Dependence of elastic and optical properties on surface terminated groups in two-dimensional MXene monolayers: a first-principles study. *RSC advances* **2016**, *6* (42), 35731-35739.

(116) Come, J.; Xie, Y.; Naguib, M.; Jesse, S.; Kalinin, S. V.; Gogotsi, Y.; Kent, P. R.; Balke, N. Nanoscale elastic changes in 2D Ti3C2Tx (MXene) pseudocapacitive electrodes. *Advanced Energy Materials* **2016**, *6* (9), 1502290.

(117) Guo, Z.; Zhou, J.; Si, C.; Sun, Z. Flexible two-dimensional Ti n+ 1 C n (n= 1, 2 and 3) and their functionalized MXenes predicted by density functional theories. *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics* **2015**, *17* (23), 15348-15354.

(118) Chuah, C. Y.; Goh, K.; Yang, Y.; Gong, H.; Li, W.; Karahan, H. E.; Guiver, M. D.; Wang, R.; Bae, T.-H. Harnessing filler materials for enhancing biogas separation membranes. *Chemical reviews* **2018**, *118* (18), 8655-8769.

(119) Liu, G.; Cheng, L.; Chen, G.; Liang, F.; Liu, G.; Jin, W. Pebax - Based Membrane Filled with Two -

Dimensional Mxene Nanosheets for Efficient CO2 Capture. *Chemistry–An Asian Journal* **2020**, *15* (15), 2364-2370.

(120) Shi, F.; Sun, J.; Wang, J.; Liu, M.; Yan, Z.; Zhu, B.; Li, Y.; Cao, X. MXene versus graphene oxide: Investigation on the effects of 2D nanosheets in mixed matrix membranes for CO2 separation. *Journal of Membrane Science* **2020**, 118850. Guan, W.; Yang, X.; Dong, C.; Yan, X.; Zheng, W.; Xi, Y.; Ruan, X.; Dai, Y.; He, G. Prestructured MXene fillers with uniform channels to enhance CO2 selective permeation in mixed matrix membranes. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science* **2020**, *138* (8), 49895.

(121) Gao, X.; Li, Z.-K.; Xue, J.; Qian, Y.; Zhang, L.-Z.; Caro, J.; Wang, H. Titanium carbide Ti3C2Tx (MXene) enhanced PAN nanofiber membrane for air purification. *Journal of Membrane Science* **2019**, *586*, 162-169. (122) Chen, C.; Boota, M.; Xie, X.; Zhao, M.; Anasori, B.; Ren, C. E.; Miao, L.; Jiang, J.; Gogotsi, Y. Charge transfer induced polymerization of EDOT confined between 2D titanium carbide layers. *Journal of Materials Chemistry A* **2017**, *5* (11), 5260-5265.

(123) Shi, F.; Sun, J.; Wang, J.; Liu, M.; Yan, Z.; Zhu, B.; Li, Y.; Cao, X. MXene versus graphene oxide: Investigation on the effects of 2D nanosheets in mixed matrix membranes for CO2 separation. *Journal of Membrane Science* **2021**, *620*, 118850.

(124) Liu, S.; Sun, D.; Tian, H. Novel hydrophobic catalysts to promote hydration at the water–oil interface. *RSC Advances* **2021**, *11* (30), 18299-18307. Liu, B.; Kita, H.; Yogo, K. Preparation of Si-rich LTA zeolite membrane using organic template-free solution for methanol dehydration. *Separation and Purification Technology* **2020**, *239*, 116533. Kim, M.-Z.; Alam, S. F.; Arepalli, D.; Rehman, A. U.; Choi, W.-Y.; Cho, C.-H. Prevention in Thermal Crack Formation in Chabazite (CHA) Zeolite Membrane by Developing Thin Top Zeolite and Thick Intermediate Layers. *Nanomaterials* **2021**, *11* (8), 2113.

(125) Duan, X.; Kim, D.; Narasimharao, K.; Al-Thabaiti, S.; Tsapatsis, M. High-performance ammoniaselective MFI nanosheet membranes. *Chemical Communications* **2021**, *57* (5), 580-582.

(126) Kim, D.; Jeon, M. Y.; Stottrup, B. L.; Tsapatsis, M. para - Xylene Ultra - selective Zeolite MFI

Membranes Fabricated from Nanosheet Monolayers at the Air–Water Interface. *Angewandte Chemie* **2018**, *130* (2), 489-494.

(127) Kumar, P.; Kim, D. W.; Rangnekar, N.; Xu, H.; Fetisov, E. O.; Ghosh, S.; Zhang, H.; Xiao, Q.; Shete, M.; Siepmann, J. I. One-dimensional intergrowths in two-dimensional zeolite nanosheets and their effect on ultra-selective transport. *Nature materials* **2020**, *19* (4), 443-449.

(128) Choi, J.; Lai, Z.; Ghosh, S.; Beving, D. E.; Yan, Y.; Tsapatsis, M. Layer-by-layer deposition of barrier and permselective c-oriented-MCM-22/silica composite films. *Industrial & engineering chemistry research* **2007**, *46* (22), 7096-7106. Choi, J.; Tsapatsis, M. MCM-22/silica selective flake nanocomposite membranes for hydrogen separations. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **2010**, *132* (2), 448-449. Rangnekar, N.; Mittal, N.; Elyassi, B.; Caro, J.; Tsapatsis, M. Zeolite membranes–a review and comparison with MOFs. *Chemical Society Reviews* **2015**, *44* (20), 7128-7154.

(129) Varoon, K.; Zhang, X.; Elyassi, B.; Brewer, D. D.; Gettel, M.; Kumar, S.; Lee, J. A.; Maheshwari, S.; Mittal, A.; Sung, C.-Y. Dispersible exfoliated zeolite nanosheets and their application as a selective membrane. *Science* **2011**, *334* (6052), 72-75.

(130) Agrawal, K. V.; Topuz, B.; Pham, T. C. T.; Nguyen, T. H.; Sauer, N.; Rangnekar, N.; Zhang, H.; Narasimharao, K.; Basahel, S. N.; Francis, L. F. Oriented MFI membranes by gel - less secondary growth of

sub - 100 nm MFI - nanosheet seed layers. Advanced Materials 2015, 27 (21), 3243-3249.

(131) Kim, D.; Ghosh, S.; Akter, N.; Kraetz, A.; Duan, X.; Gwak, G.; Rangnekar, N.; Johnson, J.; Narasimharao, K.; Malik, M. A. Twin-free, directly synthesized MFI nanosheets with improved thickness uniformity and their use in membrane fabrication. *Science Advances* **2022**, *8* (14), eabm8162.

(132) Wang, X.; Chi, C.; Zhang, K.; Qian, Y.; Gupta, K. M.; Kang, Z.; Jiang, J.; Zhao, D. Reversed thermoswitchable molecular sieving membranes composed of two-dimensional metal-organic nanosheets for gas separation. *Nature communications* **2017**, *8* (1), 1-10.

(133) Bunch, J. S.; Verbridge, S. S.; Alden, J. S.; Van Der Zande, A. M.; Parpia, J. M.; Craighead, H. G.; McEuen, P. L. Impermeable atomic membranes from graphene sheets. *Nano letters* **2008**, *8* (8), 2458-2462. Berry, V. Impermeability of graphene and its applications. *Carbon* **2013**, *62*, 1-10.

(134) Chen, L.; Shi, G.; Shen, J.; Peng, B.; Zhang, B.; Wang, Y.; Bian, F.; Wang, J.; Li, D.; Qian, Z. Ion sieving in graphene oxide membranes via cationic control of interlayer spacing. *Nature* **2017**, *550* (7676), 380-383.

(135) Jia, M.; Feng, Y.; Liu, S.; Qiu, J.; Yao, J. Graphene oxide gas separation membranes intercalated by UiO-66-NH2 with enhanced hydrogen separation performance. *Journal of Membrane Science* **2017**, *539*, 172-177.

(136) Wang, X.; Chi, C.; Tao, J.; Peng, Y.; Ying, S.; Qian, Y.; Dong, J.; Hu, Z.; Gu, Y.; Zhao, D. Improving the hydrogen selectivity of graphene oxide membranes by reducing non-selective pores with intergrown ZIF-8 crystals. *Chemical Communications* **2016**, *52* (52), 8087-8090.

(137) Diercks, C. S.; Yaghi, O. M. The atom, the molecule, and the covalent organic framework. *Science* **2017**, *355* (6328).

(138) Jiang, J.; Zhao, Y.; Yaghi, O. M. Covalent chemistry beyond molecules. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **2016**, *138* (10), 3255-3265.

(139) Yang, H.; Yang, L.; Wang, H.; Xu, Z.; Zhao, Y.; Luo, Y.; Nasir, N.; Song, Y.; Wu, H.; Pan, F. Covalent organic framework membranes through a mixed-dimensional assembly for molecular separations. *Nature communications* **2019**, *10* (1), 1-10.

(140) Sun, L.; Ying, Y.; Huang, H.; Song, Z.; Mao, Y.; Xu, Z.; Peng, X. Ultrafast molecule separation through layered WS2 nanosheet membranes. *ACS nano* **2014**, *8* (6), 6304-6311. Wang, H.; Yuan, H.; Hong, S. S.; Li, Y.; Cui, Y. Physical and chemical tuning of two-dimensional transition metal dichalcogenides. *Chemical Society Reviews* **2015**, *44* (9), 2664-2680.

(141) Radisavljevic, B.; Radenovic, A.; Brivio, J.; Giacometti, V.; Kis, A. Single-layer MoS 2 transistors. *Nature nanotechnology* **2011**, *6* (3), 147-150. Novoselov, K. S.; Jiang, D.; Schedin, F.; Booth, T.; Khotkevich, V.; Morozov, S.; Geim, A. K. Two-dimensional atomic crystals. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **2005**, *102* (30), 10451-10453.

(142) Wang, D.; Wang, Z.; Wang, L.; Hu, L.; Jin, J. Ultrathin membranes of single-layered MoS 2 nanosheets for high-permeance hydrogen separation. *Nanoscale* **2015**, *7* (42), 17649-17652.

(143) Achari, A.; Sahana, S.; Eswaramoorthy, M. High performance MoS 2 membranes: effects of thermally driven phase transition on CO 2 separation efficiency. *Energy & Environmental Science* **2016**, *9* (4), 1224-1228.

(144) Zhang, Y.; Kuwahara, Y.; Mori, K.; Louis, C.; Yamashita, H. Hybrid phase 1T/2H-MoS 2 with controllable 1T concentration and its promoted hydrogen evolution reaction. *Nanoscale* **2020**, *12* (22), 11908-11915.

(145) Chen, D.; Ying, W.; Guo, Y.; Ying, Y.; Peng, X. Enhanced gas separation through nanoconfined ionic liquid in laminated MoS2 membrane. *ACS applied materials & interfaces* **2017**, *9* (50), 44251-44257.

(146) Baker, R. W.; Low, B. T. Gas separation membrane materials: a perspective. *Macromolecules* **2014**, 47 (20), 6999-7013.

(147) Jakubczak, M.; Szuplewska, A.; Rozmysłowska - Wojciechowska, A.; Rosenkranz, A.; Jastrzębska, A.

M. Novel 2D MBenes — Synthesis, Structure, and Biotechnological Potential. *Advanced Functional Materials* **2021**, *31* (38), 2103048.

(148) Wu, Y.; Li, X.; Zhao, H.; Yao, F.; Cao, J.; Chen, Z.; Huang, X.; Wang, D.; Yang, Q. Recent advances in transition metal carbides and nitrides (MXenes): characteristics, environmental remediation and challenges. *Chemical Engineering Journal* **2021**, *418*, 129296.

(149) Deng, J.; Lu, Z.; Ding, L.; Li, Z.-K.; Wei, Y.; Caro, J.; Wang, H. Fast electrophoretic preparation of largearea two-dimensional titanium carbide membranes for ion sieving. *Chemical Engineering Journal* **2021**, *408*, 127806.